
 

 

FY2016 Annual Results and FY2017 Guidance 
 
 

Highlights 

 Underlying EBITDA of A$74M (FY2015: loss of A$51), of which A$54M was earned in a strong 
H2 FY2016 

 Record exports of 14.5Mt in FY2016 (FY2015: 12.2Mt), of which 7.6Mt was exported in the 
second half of FY2016 (H2 FY2016)  

 Revenue up by 9% to A$786M (FY2015: A$718M) of which $413M was earned in H2 FY2016 

 Average FY2016 realised price of A$55.47/ WMT CFR (FY2015: A$59.96/ WMT CFR) 

 Full cash costs down by 24% to A$52.59/WMT (FY2015: A$68.95/WMT)  

 C1 costs down by 25% to A$34.39/WMT (FY2015: A$45.74/WMT)  

 Cash flow from operations for year of A$31M (FY2015: cash outflow of A$67M) 

 Non-cash asset impairment & write downs of A$101M (FY2015: A$1,077M) have contributed to 
a statutory loss of A$159M (FY2015: A$1,378M) 

 

 

 
Atlas Iron Limited (ASX: AGO or Atlas) has today released its FY2016 annual results.  These results reflect 
the impact of lower iron ore prices which, with 19% higher tonnes, delivered an increase in revenue of 9% to 
A$786M. The increase in revenue also reflects the additional lump tonnes sold in FY2016 which attract a 
premium price. 
 
Atlas was able to achieve significant cost reductions during FY2016 where the savings generated were able 
to match or better the rate of decline experienced in the iron ore price. The FY2016 full cash cost per tonne 
was reduced by 24% to A$52.59/WMT (FY2015: A$68.95/WMT), with the average realised price per tonne 
received in FY2016 of A$55.47/ WMT CFR (FY2015: A$59.96/ WMT CFR). The average 62% Fe price was 
US$51.37/ DMT CFR in FY2016 (FY2015: US$71.39/ DMT CFR) and the average USD/AUD exchange rate 
changed from 0.8382 in FY2015 to 0.7283 in FY2016. 
 
After allowing for non-cash asset impairments and inventory write-downs of A$101M (FY2015: A$1,077.1M) 
and a depreciation and amortisation expense of A$85M (FY2015: A$117.8M), Atlas recorded a statutory loss 
of A$159M (FY2015: A$1,378M). 
 
Cash on hand at 30 June 2016 was A$80.9M after investing A$14.5M (including the lump circuit at Mt 
Webber), repayment of debt facilities (A$16.9M) and payment of interest (A$29.5M). The net proceeds of the 
July 2015 capital raising of A$46.6M strengthened Atlas’ balance sheet and improved its working capital 
position.  
 
As advised last year, Atlas entered into new commercial relationships with key contractors and, with the 
support of the Western Australian Government, targeted a substantially lower cost base in a lower iron ore 
price environment to ensure a more sustainable business. In addition, as part of the contractor collaboration 
model, Atlas moved to reduce exposure to volatility in iron ore pricing by utilising hedging products, fixed 
price sales contracts and shorter dated pricing periods. This has reduced Atlas’ exposure to iron ore price 
risk. 
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Borrowings have decreased by A$150M primarily as a result of a debt restructure completed in May 2016. 
The key terms of the restructure were as follows: 

 Term loan debt reduced from US$267M to US$135M and extended maturity date to April 2021; 

 Annual cash interest expense reduced by ~65% due to the lower debt balance and reduced cash 

interest rate; 

 Atlas issued 6,229,503,087 fully paid ordinary shares and 4,513,986,260 7.5 cent 31 July 2017 options 

to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in Atlas to the Term Loan Lenders (Lenders) such that the Lenders 

held 70% of all Atlas shares on issue at 6 May 2016. 

Borrowings have been negatively impacted by the change in the AU$:US$ foreign exchange rate from 
0.7680 at 30 June 2015 to 0.7426 at 30 June 2016. 
 
Pursuant to the debt restructure completed in May 2016, the Lenders and Atlas have entered into an 
amended Term Loan Agreement where the six monthly Asset Coverage Ratio has been replaced with a 
minimum cash balance covenant requiring Atlas to have a minimum of A$35 million at the end of each 
month. A 100% cash sweep pay down has also been introduced for any cash in excess of A$80 million at 
the end of each quarter to be paid to the lenders in the following month. 

FY2017 Guidance 

Atlas wishes to advise that its FY2017 Guidance is as follows: 

 
Full Year  

Guidance 

Ore tonnes shipped (WMT) 14M – 15M 

C1 cash costs (A$/WMT FOB) $34 - $36 

Full cash cost (A$/WMT CFR China)  $48 - $52 

Sustaining Capital (A$) $4M - $6M 

Development Capital (A$) $8M - $10M 

Cash Interest paid (A$) $9M - $11M 

Rehabilitation $3M - $5M 

Depreciation & Amortisation (A$/WMT) $4 - $6 

Note: The FY2017 Guidance range takes into account the higher haulage costs that result from Mt Webber’s full year run 

rate of 6Mtpa during FY2017. 

 

Breakdown of the 14Mt to 15Mts of product 

expected to be shipped in FY2017 
Guidance 

Atlas fines (WMT) 9M – 10M 

Atlas lump (WMT) 4M – 5M 

Value fines (WMT)  ~1M 

Note: The ultimate breakdown of the 14Mt to 15Mt of product mix during the year is subject to change and will depend on 

demand and product availability 

Horizon 1 mining properties 

Atlas’ Horizon 1 mining properties relate to the assets and liabilities contained within its current operating 
mines and the Corunna Downs development project. During the year ended 30 June 2016, Atlas recognised 
an impairment loss for its Horizon 1 mining properties of A$13,273,000 (property, plant and equipment of 
A$4,170,000 (2015: A$7,003,000) and mine and reserve development assets of A$9,103,000 (2015: 
A$169,948,000)) all of which was highlighted in our H1 FY2016 half year report in February 2016. 
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Horizon 2 projects 

Atlas’ Horizon 2 projects relate predominantly to the McPhee Creek and South East Pilbara projects. During 
the year ended 30 June 2016, Atlas recognised an impairment loss for its Horizon 2 projects of 
A$79,400,000 (mining tenements capitalised of A$78,700,000 (2015: A$574,286,000) and reserve 
development assets of A$700,000 (2015: A$32,285,000)) due primarily to changes in the forecasted iron ore 
price (provided by independent iron ore forecasters).  

Horizon 2 projects Ore Reserves 

Atlas is currently completing a review of its Ore Reserves as at 30 June 2016. In its 2015 Annual Report, 
Atlas reported Ore Reserves for its Horizon 2 projects at McPhee Creek and South East Pilbara (Davidson 
Creek Hub). Based on current assessments of the ability to fund rail and port infrastructure for these iron ore 
projects, Atlas advises that it is unlikely to report Ore Reserves at 30 June 2016 for its Horizon 2 projects at  
McPhee Creek and South East Pilbara (Davidson Creek Hub) but expects to continue to report Mineral 
Resources for the two projects. Atlas expects to release its Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves as at 30 
June 2016 in its Annual Report expected to be released October 2016. 

Atlas is continuing to investigate a trucking based infrastructure solution for its McPhee Creek project. 
Should such a trucking based infrastructure solution for its McPhee Creek project be feasible, Atlas may 
again be able to report Ore Reserves for its McPhee Creek project. 

 

Further details regarding Atlas’ FY2016 annual results can be found in the accounts lodged with ASX today. 

Glossary 
The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas’ directors provides useful 
information to assess the underlying financial performance of the Company.  These are non-IFRS measures 
and are unaudited.  

 

Full cash costs includes All-in cash costs, contractor collaboration margin, capitalised exploration and 
evaluation, interest expense and sustaining capital expenditure, but excludes depreciation and amortisation, 
one-off restructuring and suspension costs of operating mine sites and other non-cash expenses. Full cash 
costs are unaudited, Full cash costs are derived from unaudited management accounts. This is a non-IFRS 
measure. 

WMT:  Wet Metric Tonnes 

A$:  All currency amounts are in Australian dollars (A$) unless otherwise noted 

 

 

CONTACTS 

Media Investor Relations 

Paul Armstrong – Read Corporate Tony Walsh 

E: paul@readcorporate.com.au tony.walsh@atlasiron.com.au 

M: 0421 619 084 T: 08 6228 8000 
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ATLAS IRON LIMITED 
 

30 JUNE 2016 APPENDIX 4E 
RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 

 
 
This Preliminary Final Report for Atlas Iron Limited and its subsidiaries (“Atlas Iron”) (ASX Code: AGO) is 
provided to ASX under ASX Listing Rule 4.3A 
 
Results for announcement to the market 
 

  % Change  Amount 

Total iron ore shipments Up 19% To 14.5 wmt 

Sales revenue Up 9% To $786 million 

Gross profit  From a loss last year To $12 million 

Underlying EBITDA (Non-IFRS) 
 From a loss last year 

To $74 million 

Underlying loss before tax (Non-IFRS) Down 76% To ($58) million 

Underlying loss after tax attributable to 

shareholders (Non-IFRS) 
Down 76% To ($58) million 

Statutory net loss after tax Down 88% To ($159) million 

Statutory net loss after tax attributable to 

members 
Down 88% To ($159) million 

Final dividend per share    nil 

Record date for final dividend    n/a 

 

The preliminary Financial Report (Appendix 4E) and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 are 
attached. 
 
The Annual General Meeting will be held on 21 November 2016. 

 
 
 
 
  



2 

 Current Reporting 
Period 

Previous Corresponding 
Period 

 30 June 2016 
$M 

30 June 2015 
$M 

Revenue from ordinary activities 786 718 

Gross profit/(loss) 12 (171) 

Underlying EBITDA (Non-IFRS) 74 (51) 

Net loss before tax (159) (1,311) 

Net loss after tax from ordinary activities (159) (1,378) 

Net loss after tax attributable to members (159) (1,378) 

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 31 (67) 

 
 

Dividend Information 
Amount per 

Ordinary share 
(cents) 

Franked amount per 
Ordinary share 

(cents) 

Dividends paid in the period  - - 

Proposed dividend in relation to this period - - 

Record date for final dividend - - 

Last date for receipt of election notice for Dividend 

Reinvestment Plan 
- - 

Payment date of proposed dividend - - 

Issue date of shares under Dividend Reinvestment Plan - - 

Conduit foreign income nil - 

 
 

NTA Backing 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 

Net tangible asset by security $0.03 $0.24 

 

 
Associates and Joint Arrangements  

 
Atlas holds interests in the following associates and joint arrangements: 
 

Name of Entity 
Interest % at 

30 June 2016 

Centaurus Metals Limited 9.14%* 

North West Infrastructure Pty Limited 63.00% 

*As a result of the continued dilution in the Group’s share ownership in Centaurus Metals Limited (CTM) during the year, the Group was 
deemed to have lost significant influence. On loss of significant influence the Group ceased equity accounting for CTM as an associate 
and commenced accounting for the retained interest in CTM at fair value through the profit or loss. 

 

The Group holds free-carried minority interest shareholdings in several other joint ventures. 
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Commentary on Results for the Period 

A commentary on the results for the period is contained within the financial statements that accompany this 
announcement. 

Underlying (loss)/profit is a non-IFRS measure that Atlas uses internally to measure the operational performance and 
allocate resources. 

Underlying (loss)/profit is derived from (loss)/profit attributable to owners of Atlas Iron adjusted as follows: 

• impact of business combinations;  
• impact of restructuring (including onerous lease); 
• impairment losses and asset write-downs; 
• inventory write-downs; and 
• Gain on debt restructure. 

 
Underlying (loss)/profit is not audited. A numerical reconciliation between the underlying (loss)/profit and the statutory net 
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of Atlas Iron is as follows: 

 
30 June 2016 

$’000 

30 June 2015 

$’000 

Underlying loss after tax (Non-IFRS) (57,694) (240,168) 

Impairment of assets (97,098) (980,371) 

Restructuring costs net of tax (3,783) (28,092) 

De-recognition of deferred tax asset - (67,003) 

Suspension costs - (24,711) 

Gain on debt restructure 5,452 - 

Inventory write-down (3,652) (29,769) 

Other (2,239) (7,712) 

Statutory net loss after tax  (159,014) (1,377,826) 

 

 

Status of Audit 

 
This Preliminary Final Report is based on accounts that have been audited. This Preliminary Final Report is to be read in 
conjunction with the attached financial statement for the year ended 30 June 2016, together with any public 
announcements made by Atlas Iron during the year 30 June 2016, in accordance with the continuous disclosure 
obligations under the Corporation Act 2001. 
 

 

Previous corresponding period 

 
The previous corresponding period is the year ended 30 June 2015. 
 

 

 

Further enquiries, please contact: 

 
Daniel Harris, CEO and Managing Director  +61 8 6228 8000 
Mark Hancock, Chief Financial Officer   +61 8 6228 8000 
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Directors 

 
The Directors of Atlas Iron Limited (the Company) present their report together with the financial statements of the 
Group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group or Atlas) and the Group’s interest 
in associates and jointly controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the auditor’s report thereon. 

The names and details of the Group's Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are set 
out below. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. Where applicable, all directorships held 
in listed public companies over the last three years have been detailed below. 
 
Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities 
 

Eugene Davis (Non-Executive Chairman) 
Mr Davis was appointed Non-Executive Director on 6 May 2016 and subsequently as Non-Executive Chairman on 6 
June 2016 (Period of service: 0 years and 2 months). 

Mr Davis is the founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PIRINATE Consulting Group, LLC, a privately held 
consulting firm specialising in turnaround management, merger and acquisition consulting, hostile and friendly 
takeovers, proxy contests and strategic planning advisory services for domestic, international public and private 
business entities. 

Since forming PIRINATE in 1999, Mr Davis has advised, managed and served as a Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Restructuring Officer, Director, Committee Chairman and Chairman of the board of a number of businesses operating in 
diverse sectors including metals, energy, oil & gas, import-export, mining and transportation and logistics. Previously, 
Mr Davis served as Chief Executive Officer of Total-Tel Communications, President, Vice Chairman and Director of 
Emerson Radio Corporation and Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of Sport Supply Group, Inc. Mr Davis is 
also a director of Spectrum Brands, Inc., U.S. Concrete, Inc., WMI Holdings Corp, Hercules Offshort, Inc., and Genco 
Shipping & Trading Ltd. 

Mr Davis began his career as an attorney and international negotiator with Exxon Corporation and Standard Oil 
Company (Indiana), and has also been a partner at two Texas-based law firms, specialising in corporate and securities 
law. 

Mr Davis holds a bachelor’s degree from Columbia College, a Master of International Affairs degree in International Law 
and Organisation from the School of International Affairs of Columbia University, and a Juris Doctor from the Columbia 
University School of Law, USA. 

Mr Davis is a member of the Remuneration Committee (effective 6 May 2016) and Chairman of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee (effective 6 May 2016). 
 

David Flanagan BSc, WASM, MAusIMM, FAICD (Managing Director – resigned effective 28 June 2016) 
Mr Flanagan is a Geologist with more than 25 years’ experience in the mining industry, having worked in a variety of 
roles from mining operations, exploration, development and corporate.  

Mr Flanagan is the founding Managing Director of Atlas; he was appointed as Executive Chairman on 22 February 2012 
and, from 1 September 2012 assumed the role of Non-Executive Chairman. Mr Flanagan resumed the role of Managing 
Director on 11 June 2015 (Period of service: 11 years and 11 months). 

Mr Flanagan is the Chancellor of Murdoch University. During 2014 Mr Flanagan was named the Western Australian of 
the Year and West Australian Business Leader of the Year. 

On 28 June 2016, Mr Flanagan resigned as Managing Director and retired effective 5 August 2016.  
 
Hon. Cheryl Edwardes AM, LLM B.Juris B.A. GAICD (Non-Executive Director) 

Mrs Edwardes AM was appointed Non-Executive Director on 6 May 2015 and subsequently as Non-Executive 
Chairman on 11 June 2015. Mrs Edwardes has recently transitioned to the role of Non-Executive Director on 6 June 
2016 (Period of service: 1 year and 2 months). 

A solicitor by profession, Mrs Edwardes is a former Minister in the Western Australian Government with extensive 
experience and knowledge of WA’s legal and regulatory framework relating to mining projects, environmental, native 
title, heritage and land access. 

During her political career, Mrs Edwardes held positions including WA Attorney General, Minister for the Environment 
and Minister for Labour Relations. She also has broad experience and networks within China’s business community. 
Mrs. Edwardes is Chairman of Vimy Resources Limited (ASX: VMY) and Chairman of Edconnect (formerly) School 
Volunteer Program. 

Mrs Edwardes is a member of the Remuneration Committee (effective 1 July 2015), a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee (effective 1 July 2015) and became interim Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee (effective 25 July 
2016) and a member of the Nomination and Governance Committee (effective 1 July 2015). 
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Daniel Harris (CEO and Managing Director & Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Harris was appointed Non-Executive Director on 6 May 2016 (Period of service: 0 years and 2 months). 

Following the resignation of Mr Flanagan as Managing Director on 28 June 2016, Mr Harris has been appointed as 
Managing Director (MD) and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and will continue in this role until a permanent replacement 
is appointed. Thereafter, Mr Harris will revert to being a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

Mr Harris brings a wealth of mining and resources industry experience to Atlas from a career spanning more than 35 
years, having worked previously as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Atlantic Ltd and Strategic 
Minerals Corporation’s (formerly Union Carbide) vanadium business. 

Mr Harris has also worked for Evraz in Moscow as Vice President, Vanadium Assets. Mr Harris is currently an 
independent technical and executive consultant to GSA Environmental Limited in the United Kingdom. 

Mr Harris was Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee (effective 6 May 2016 until 25 July 2016) and a member of 
the Nomination and Governance Committee (effective 6 May 2016). 
 

Alan Carr (Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Carr was appointed Non-Executive Director on 6 May 2016 (Period of service: 0 years and 2 months). 

Mr Carr is an investment professional with 20 years’ experience with investing in and leading complex financial 
restructurings globally, as well as serving on boards of directors. He is currently the Chief Executive Officer of Drivetrain 
LLC, which he founded in 2013. Mr Carr also served as Managing Director at Strategic Value Partners UK LLP from 
2003 to 2013. Prior to these positions, Mr Carr worked as an attorney at Skadden, Arps and at Ravin, Sarasohn, 
specialising in corporate restructuring. 

Mr Carr currently serves as a director of various companies, including Tanker Investments Ltd, Midstates Petroleum 
Company, Inc., Brookfield DTLA Fund Office Trust Investor Inc, NewPage Corporation and Syncora Holdings Ltd. He 
also served on the board of LightSquared Inc from 2013 to 2015. 

Mr Carr has served on various boards of other private companies in North America, Europe and Asia. 

Mr Carr holds a Juris Doctor, cum laude, from Tulane Law School, New Orleans, USA and a Bachelor of Arts in 
Economics and Sociology from Brandeis University, Waltham, MA, USA. 

Mr Carr is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (effective 6 May 2016) and a member of Audit and Risk 
Committee (effective 6 May 2016). 
 
Tony Walsh BCom, MBA, FCA, FCIS, FFin (Executive Director) 

Mr Walsh re-joined Atlas as Company Secretary and Head of Corporate on 12 October 2015 (Period of service: 0 years 
and 8 months). 

Mr Walsh was Company Secretary and General Manager Corporate of ASX listed diversified mining producer, 
Independence Group NL, from July 2013 to October 2015. Prior to this he was Company Secretary of Atlas Iron Limited 
for 7 years. Mr Walsh has over 30 years’ experience in dealing with listed companies, ASX, ASIC and corporate 
transactions including 14 years with the ASX in Perth where he acted as ASX liaison with the JORC Committee and 4 
years as Chairman of an ASX listed mining explorer and director of a London AIM listed mining explorer. 

Mr Walsh was until recently a member of the West Australian State Council of Governance Institute of Australia 
(formerly Chartered Secretaries Australia) and is a member of Newman College school council. Prior to his role at ASX, 
Mr Walsh worked with Ernst & Young for over 5 years in an audit and compliance capacity. Mr Walsh is a member of 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors, is Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia, the Institute of Charter 
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. 
 
On 5 August 2016 Mr Walsh was appointed as an Executive Director.  
 
Ken Brinsden BEng, WASM, MAusImm  
Mr Brinsden was appointed as Managing Director on 22 February 2012, transitioned into an Executive Director role on 
11 June 2015 until 1 September 2015 when he moved into a Non-Executive Director role and resigned from the Board 
on 6 May 2016 (Period of service: 4 years and 2 months). 
 
Jeff Dowling BCom FCA, FAICD, FFin  

Mr Dowling was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 8 November 2011 and resigned from the Board on 6 May 
2016 (Period of service: 4 years and 6 months). 
 

Sook Yee Tai CPA  
Ms Tai was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 2 June 2010 and resigned from the Board on 12 November 2015 
(Period of service: 5 years and 5 months). 
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Group Company Secretaries 

Tony Walsh BCom, MBA, FCA, FCIS, FFin (Executive Director) 

Refer to Director’s biography.  
 

Mark Hancock BBus, CA, FFin 
Mr Hancock joined Atlas as Chief Commercial and Financial Officer in July 2006 (Period of service: 9 years and 11 
months).  Mr Hancock has resumed the role he held previously of Chief Financial Officer on 1 September 2015 and 
continues as Joint Company Secretary. 
 
Mr Hancock was appointed as Executive Director - Commercial on 25 May 2012 and resigned from the Board on 2 
December 2014. 
 
Mr Hancock has more than 30 years’ experience in senior financial roles across a number of leading companies in 
Australia and South East Asia, including Lend Lease Corporation Ltd, Woodside Petroleum Ltd and Premier Oil plc. Mr 
Hancock is currently a non-Executive Director of Centaurus Metals Limited (ASX: CTM) which Atlas holds 
approximately 9% of shares issued. 
 
Yasmin Broughton BComn, PG Dip Law, GAICD 
Ms Broughton was appointed Company Secretary and General Counsel on 30 January 2014 and resigned on 12 
October 2015 (Period of service: 1 year and 8 months). 
 
Directors’ interests in the shares, options and rights of the group and related bodies corporate  
The interests of each Director in the shares and options of the Group as notified by the Directors to the ASX in 
accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 as at the date of this report are as follows: 
 

 

Ordinary Shares 
Options over 

Ordinary Shares 

Share appreciation 
rights and 

performance rights 

Eugene Davis -  -  -  

Hon. Cheryl Edwardes (AM) 208,100  200,000  -  

Daniel Harris -  -  -  

Alan Carr -  -  -  

Tony Walsh -  -  -  

 

Dividends 
Directors resolved not to pay a dividend for the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 

Principal activities 
The principal activities of the Group during the course of the financial year were the exploration, development, mining 
and sale of iron ore.  
  
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 
Atlas’ purpose is to deliver mineral products that create value for all stakeholders including shareholders, customers, 
suppliers, and the communities in which the Group operates. In order to achieve this goal, Atlas’ strategy is to 
consolidate its current production base with a competitive cost base, and to pursue opportunities through optimising 
near term production to maximise profitability and cash flow, developing customer and market focused solutions, and 
maintaining options for growth, should market conditions allow.  

A discussion on factors that will impact the achievement of the Group’s Strategy can be found later in this Operating and 
Financial Review in “Factors and Business Risks that affect Future Performance”. 
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Performance Indicators 
 
Management and the Board use a number of financial and operating performance indicators to measure performance 
over time against our overall strategy. Selected performance indicators are summarised below: 

 2016  2015  2014  

Revenue    

Tonnes sold (‘000 WMT) 14,485  12,175  10,921  

Revenue (AU$’000) 785,755  718,474  1,097,617  

Average price per tonne received (including Lump & Value fines) 
(AU$/WMT CFR) 

55.47  59.96  100.51  

Operating Results    

Underlying cash gross margin (AU$’000)* 97,721  (23,360) 319,594  

Underlying EBITDA (AU$’000)* 74,466  (51,494) 257,855  

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax (AU$’000)* (57,694) (240,168) 18,590  

C1 cash costs (AU$/WMT FOB) 34.39  45.74  50.95  

All-in cash costs (AU$/WMT)** 49.35  64.23  76.80  

Full cash costs (AU$/WMT)*** 52.59  68.95  89.93  

Liquidity     

Cash flow from operations (AU$’000) 31,105  (67,087) 289,201  

Cash (AU$’000) 80,853  73,305  264,242  

Working capital (AU$’000) 69,744  2,563  208,081  

Borrowings (AU$’000) (189,347) (339,520) (288,356) 

 
* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas’ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 

performance of the Company. A reconciliation between statutory results and underlying results is provided in “Underlying cash gross 
margin” section below. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 

** All-in cash costs includes C1 cash costs, royalties, freight, corporate and administration, expensed exploration and evaluation but 
excludes interest expense, capital expenditure, one-off restructuring costs, suspension and ramp up costs of operating mine sites, 
contractor collaboration margin and other non-cash expenses. C1 cash costs are inclusive of contractors and Atlas’ costs including 
contractor rate uplift. All-in cash costs are unaudited. 

*** Full cash costs includes All-in cash costs, contractor collaboration margin, capitalised exploration and evaluation, interest expense 
and sustaining capital expenditure, but excludes depreciation and amortisation, one-off restructuring and suspension costs of 
operating mine sites and other non-cash expenses. Full cash costs are unaudited. 

 
Revenue 
 
Tonnes sold (WMT) have increased by 19.0% from the prior year. This increase is attributable to the suspension of 
operations in the prior period impacting tonnes sold and also increased production from Mt Webber coupled with 
productivity improvements at Wodgina and Abydos.  

The table below outlines the breakdown of product that was shipped over the current and previous two years: 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 WMT millions WMT millions WMT millions 

Atlas fines 10.8  11.6  9.6  

Atlas lump 3.4  0.5  -  

Value fines 0.3  0.1  1.3  

Total 14.5  12.2  10.9  

 
Revenue for the year ended 30 June 2016 was $785.8 million following the sale of 14.5 million tonnes of iron ore at an 
average realised selling price of AU$55.47 per tonne. The increase of revenue by 9.4% has resulted primarily from an 
increase in tonnes sold of 19.0% and additional lump tonnes sold which attract a premium price, offset by a reduction in 
the average realised price by AU$4.49 per tonne (7.5%). 
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Operating Results 

 

Underlying cash gross margin 
The following table reconciles underlying cash gross margin to statutory (loss)/profit after tax:  
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $ 000’s $ 000’s $ 000’s 

Underlying cash gross margin* 97,721  (23,360) 319,594  

Unwind of port prepayment included in operating costs -  (5,289) (14,926) 

Exploration and evaluation expense (3,526) (5,189) (9,042) 

Other income and gain on dilution of associate 12,426  2,737 4,652  

Loss on sale of assets (349) (1,071) (173) 

Other costs (25,837) (27,310) (41,781) 

Share of loss of associates and joint ventures and gain/(loss) on 
financial instruments 

(5,969) 7,988  (469) 

Underlying EBITDA* 74,466  (51,494) 257,855  

Depreciation and amortisation (85,033) (117,793) (207,893) 

Underlying EBIT* (10,567) (169,287) 49,962  

Net finance expense (34,027) (31,542) (24,860) 

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (13,100) (39,339) 37  

Underlying (loss)/profit before tax* (57,694) (240,168) 25,139  

Underlying tax expense*  -  -  (6,549) 

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax* (57,694) (240,168) 18,590  

Inventory write-down (3,652) (29,769) (10,017) 

Impairment of assets (97,098) (980,371) (17,811) 

Derecognition of deferred tax asset -  (67,003) -  

Gain on debt restructure 5,452  -  -  

Restructuring costs (3,783) (28,092) (5,435) 

Suspension costs -  (24,711) -  

Other (2,239) (7,712) -  

MRRT tax benefit -  -  28,925  

Statutory (loss)/profit after tax (159,014) (1,377,826) 14,252  
 
* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas’ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 
performance of the Group. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 
 
Underlying EBITDA and EBIT 
The following graph shows a comparison of underlying EBITDA for the year ended 30 June 2016 compared to the prior 
year: 

  
 
Underlying EBITDA has increased by $126.0 million to $74.5 million as a result of favourable impact of significant 
reduction in the Group’s All-in cash cost per tonne (23.2%)  and increase in tonnes sold including Atlas lump, partly 
offset by a 7.5% decrease in the average iron ore price received. 
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Underlying loss after tax 
The underlying loss after tax of (AU$57.7) million improved from a loss of (AU$240.2) million in the prior year due to 
favourable EBITDA movement outlined above, partly offset by a reduction in the AUD/USD exchange rate resulting in 
foreign exchange losses on the USD denominated debt facility and higher interest. 
 
Statutory loss after tax 
The statutory loss after tax has improved by AU$1,218.8 million from the prior year to a loss of AU$159.0 million due to 
the favourable impact on costs as a result of the contractor collaboration detailed above and other savings with reduced 
write-downs and one off transactions, including: 

- impairment charges on assets of AU$97.1 million; 
- inventory valuation write-down of AU$3.7 million; 
- restructuring costs, the majority of which were onerous lease provisions, of AU$3.8 million;  
- realised gain on term loan B debt to equity swap of AU$5.5 million; and 
- the impact of other one off costs and business combinations of AU$2.2 million. 

 
C1 cash cost per tonne  
C1 cash cost per tonne decreased by 24.8% (AU$11.35 per tonne) from the prior year to AU$34.39 per tonne 
associated with cost reduction initiatives including the positive effect from the Contractor Collaboration agreement and 
other cost savings. 
 
All-in cash cost per tonne  
The All-in cash costs per tonne decreased by 23.2% (AU$14.88 per tonne) from the prior year to AU$49.35 per tonne 
due to a reduction in C1 cash costs, freight, royalties, corporate costs and other overheads. 
 
Full cash cost per tonne 
Full cash cost per tonne decreased 23.7% (AU$16.36) from the prior year to AU$52.59 due to a reduction in All-in cash 
costs, sustaining capital and higher tonnes sold.  

Liquidity 
 
Net operating cash flows and funding from equity and debt markets are the Group’s main sources of cash. These cash 
flows have been fundamental to the Group’s ability to fund ongoing operations of its existing mine sites. 

Following is a summary of key sources and uses of cash. A full statement of cash flow is contained in the financial 
statements and explanatory notes appear in Note 22 to the financial statements:  

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $ 000’s $ 000’s $ 000’s 

Cash from/(used in) operations 34,800 (49,893) 290,355  

Interest received 854 2,315  7,888  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure payments (3,525)   (5,189) (9,042) 

Restructuring/suspension costs (1,024) (14,320) -  

Net operating cash flows 31,105 (67,087) 289,201  

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (686) (15,645) (20,371) 

Payments for mine development and reserve development (14,527) (86,781) (332,947) 

Stamp duty paid (2,581) (1,694) (18,911) 

Loan to joint operation partner -  (6,636) (12,606) 

Proceeds from bank guarantees 91  21,248  2,590  

Other (5,704) 8,450  (6,151) 

Net investing cash flows (23,407) (81,058) (388,396) 

Proceeds from/(payments) for issue of shares (net of costs) 46,584  (1,744) -  

Payments for shares acquired by Atlas Iron Employees -  (219) (390) 

Payments for finance lease (1,292) -  -  

Dividends paid -  (16,229) (22,490) 

Debt restructure costs (16,104) -  -  

Net proceeds from royalty assistance program 15,364  -  -  

Interest on borrowings (29,537) (30,650) (27,502) 

Net (payments of)/proceeds from borrowings (16,938) (17,698) 1,929  

Net financing cash flows (1,923) (66,540) (48,453) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,773  23,748  (5,032) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,548  (190,937) (152,680) 
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Net Operating Cash Flows 
The following table reconciles underlying EBITDA to cash flow from/(used in) operations: 
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $ 000’s $ 000’s $ 000’s 

Underlying EBITDA* 74,466  (51,494) 257,855  

Working capital movements    

     Inventory (6,323) 23,886  (14,827) 

     Debtors and other assets (10,174) 25,888  4,059  

     Creditors and other liabilities (30,959) (49,541) 33,586  

Interest received 854  2,315  7,888  

Share of joint venture and associates losses 106  3,587  3,049  

Share-based payments 5,249  (258) 2,423  

Loss/(gain) on fair value of financial assets -  687  (64) 

Gain on financial instruments 5,863  (7,276) -  

Restructuring costs -  (8,578) -  

Suspension costs -  (5,742) -  

Other income/expenses (7,326) -  -  

Other non-cash items (651) (561) (4,768) 

Cash flow from/(used in) operations 31,105  (67,087) 289,201  

* The underlying basis is a non-IFRS measure that in the opinion of Atlas’ Directors provides useful information to assess the financial 
performance of the Group. A reconciliation between statutory results to underlying results is provided in “Underlying cash gross margin” 
section above. These non-IFRS measures are unaudited. 

 
There has been a significant improvement in the cash flows from operations of AU$98.2 million during the year ended 
30 June 2016 as a result of the Company completing the contractor collaboration in May 2015 and other cost savings 
which lowered the Company’s cost base but the iron ore price volatility continues to impact operating cash flows. The 
Group remains focused on reducing costs further and mitigating the iron ore volatility risk.  
 
Net Investing and Financing Cash Flows 
The reduction in mine development and reserve development spend reflects the conclusion of Atlas’ initial mine 
development phase. The majority of capital spent related to the conversion of the Mt Webber crusher to facilitate the 
production of lump product.  

Cash outflows from financing activities has improved in the year ended 30 June 2016 to AU$1.9 million by AU$64.6 
million a result of the cash inflows from the capital raising completed in July 2015 offset by higher interest payments as 
a result of the depreciation in AUD/USD exchange rate and debt restructure expenditure. 
 
Cash 
At the end of the financial year, Atlas had AU$80.9 million in cash and cash equivalents. The following graph outlines 
the cash inflows and outflows during the year:  
 

 

The increase in cash from AU$73.3 million to AU$80.9 million during the year has primarily resulted from: 
- an increase in revenue receipts; 
- proceeds from royalty assistance program; 
- continued reduction of operating costs; and 
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- successful capital raising completed in July 2015.   
 
Working capital 
The following table summarises Atlas’ working capital position: 
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $ 000’s $ 000’s $ 000’s 

Cash 80,853  73,305  264,242  

Trade and other receivables 36,509  23,973  78,165  

Inventories 16,728  15,604  53,425  

Trade and other payables (64,346) (110,319) (187,751) 

Working Capital 69,744  2,563  208,081  

 
Working capital has increased by AU$67.2 million to AU$69.7 million due to: 

- increase in cash outlined above; 
- lower trade and other payables balance as a result of reduced costs arising from contractor collaboration and 

other savings; and 
- increase in trade receivables at 30 June 2016 compared to the prior period as a result of increase in tonnes 

shipped.  
 
Borrowings 
Borrowings has decreased by AU$150.2 million primarily as a result of a debt restructure completed on 6 May 2016. 
The key terms of the restructure were as follows: 

- term loan debt reduced from US$267 million to US$135 million and extended maturity date from December 
2017 to April 2021; 

- annual cash interest expense reduced by ~65% as a result of the lower debt balance and reduced cash 
interest rate; and 

- Atlas issued 6,229,503,087 fully paid ordinary shares and 4,513,986,260 options to acquire fully paid ordinary 
shares in Atlas to the Term Loan Lenders (Lenders) such that the Lenders held 70% of all Atlas shares on 
issue at 6 May 2016.   

 
Borrowing have also been negatively impacted by the change in the AU$:US$ foreign exchange rate from 0.7680 at 30 
June 2015 to 0.7426 at 30 June 2016. 
 
Factors and business risks that affect future performance 
 
Atlas operates in a changing environment and is therefore subject to factors and business risks that will affect future 
performance. The following factors and business risks could have a material effect on Atlas’ future results from 
operations and financial position: 
 
Commodity prices  
Atlas’ revenues and cash flows are derived from the sale of iron ore. The majority of Atlas’ sales contracts use a pricing 

formula linked to the spot market for iron ore. Contract pricing is often based on the spot market price in a future period.  

This has meant that Atlas’ final received price is known one to two months after iron ore is shipped. Atlas’ financial 

performance has historically therefore been exposed to fluctuations in the iron ore price, which has been particularly 

volatile in recent times. 

As part of the contractor collaboration deed, Atlas looks to reduce volatility on a three month look forward basis using 

hedging products, fixed price sales and shorter dated pricing periods. This will reduce exposure to iron ore price risk, 

but may also limit Atlas’ ability to leverage any potential iron ore price appreciation. 

Iron ore prices may be influenced by numerous factors and events that are beyond the control of Atlas, including 

increased global supply, actions of other producers, decreased demand, currency exchange rates, general economic 

conditions, regulatory changes and other global, regional, political and economic factors. Atlas cannot provide any 

assurance as to the prices Atlas will achieve for its iron ore. Changes in iron ore prices may have a positive or negative 

effect on various aspects of Atlas’ business including debt covenants, profit margins, project development and 

production plans and activities, together with its ability to fund those plans and activities.   

Atlas sells iron ore products of differing nature and grade. The market for such products varies depending on factors 

outlined above. As the lump product market is smaller than the fines product market the impact of competitor activity or 

changes in demand have the potential to be amplified and therefore impact the price received. 
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The following table shows the average prices based on Platts 62% Fe and freight (CFR) to China over the last three 
years:  
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $  $  $  

62% CFR (US$/DMT) 51.37  71.39  122.59  

Average price per tonne received CFR (including Atlas Value Fines) (AU$/WMT) 55.47  59.96  100.51  

 
The price received by Atlas is adjusted for Fe grade and quality.  
 
Exchange rates 
Atlas is exposed to fluctuations in the US dollar as all sales are denominated in US dollars. The Company borrows 
money and holds a portion of cash in US dollars, which provides a partial natural hedge. 

Accordingly, Atlas’ income from, and the value of its business, will be affected by fluctuations in the rates by which the 
US dollar is exchanged with Australian dollars.  

Although steps may be undertaken to manage currency risk (e.g. via hedging strategies), adverse movements in the 
Australian dollar against the US dollar may have an adverse impact on Atlas.  

The following table shows the average USD/AUD exchange rate for the financial year over the last three years: 
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15 30-Jun-14 

 $ $ $ 

USD/AUD 0.7283  0.8382  0.9187  

 
Refer to Note 29 to the financial statements for details of the Company’s foreign currency exposure and sensitivity 
analysis.  
 
Operating and development risks 
Atlas’ operations and development activities could be affected by various unforseen events and circumstances, which 
may result in increased costs, lower production levels and, following on from that, lower revenue levels. Any negative 
outcomes flowing from these operational risks could have an adverse effect on Atlas’ business, financial condition, 
profitability and performance. 

Mining requires significant interaction with the natural environment and is impacted by inherent vulnerability including 
(but not limited to) weather, ground conditions, mineral enrichment, mineral endowment and ore physical 
characteristics, each of which might have an impact of the overall deliverability or cost of the ore delivered to customers. 
Atlas seeks to minimise the potential damage flowing from these risks by obtaining business interruption insurance for 
certain events and appropriate indemnities from suppliers and contractors. 
 
Debt covenants 
Atlas has financing arrangements in place which are at risk of acceleration and enforcement if a default arises under 
them. The Term Loan B is secured, so enforcement may involve enforcement of security over the assets of Atlas and its 
material subsidiaries, including appointing a receiver.   

The Lenders and Atlas have entered into an amended Term Loan Agreement where the six monthly Asset Coverage 
Ratio has been replaced with a minimum cash balance covenant requiring Atlas to have a minimum of AU$35 million at 
the end of each month. A 100% cash sweep pay down has also been introduced for any cash in excess of AU$80 
million at the end of each quarter to be paid to the lenders in the following month. 

Atlas is, as at the date of this Financial Report, in compliance with its obligations under the Term Loan B.  
 
Regulatory and title risk 
Changes in legislative and administrative regimes, taxation laws, interest rates and other legal and government policies 
in Australia may have an adverse effect on the assets, operations and ultimately the financial performance of Atlas and 
the market price of Atlas shares. 

Exploration and production are dependent on the granting and maintenance of appropriate licences, permits and 
regulatory consents and authorisations (including those related to interests in tenements), which may not be granted or 
may be withdrawn or be made subject to limitations at the discretion of government or regulatory authorities.  Atlas also 
relies on authorisations pursuant to contractual regimes with various counterparties in relation to its ongoing operations 
and development activities. Although such authorisations may be renewed following expiry or granted (as the case may 
be), there can be no assurance that such authorisations will be continued, renewed or granted, or as to the terms of 
renewals or grants. If there is a failure to obtain or retain the appropriate authorisations or there is a material delay in 
obtaining or renewing them or they are granted subject to onerous conditions, then Atlas’ ability to conduct its 
exploration, development or operations may be adversely affected. 
 
Interest rates 
Atlas is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings, which are predominately held in US dollars and have a floating 
interest rate above a LIBOR floor. Fluctuation in interest rates above that LIBOR floor will have an impact on the 
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Company’s earnings. Refer to Note 29 to the financial statements for details of our interest rate exposure and sensitivity 
analysis.  
 
Health, safety and environment  
Atlas is subject to regulation in respect of the health and safety of our people and the protection and rehabilitation of our 
environment. This is an area that is continually evolving and the expectations of communities can be different to the 
regulations in place. Health, safety and the environment is a key focus area of Atlas and the Company does all that it 
can do to comply with regulations and meet the expectations of the community. Given the sensitive nature of this area, 
Atlas may be exposed to litigation, foreseen and unforseen compliance and rehabilitation costs despite its best efforts.  
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
On 24 July 2015 on the back of the prospectus issued in June 2015, the Company had received applications for AU$87 
million from existing shareholders, contractors and new investors. The Company issued 1.74 billion fully paid ordinary 
shares at an issue price of AU$0.05 per share. In addition, 1.74 billion free listed options were issued to subscribing 
parties, which are exercisable at AU$0.075 per share and expire on 30 June 2017. The Company lifted the trading 
suspension of its securities on 27 July 2015. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Company has achieved significant cost and debt reductions which are now 
leading to positive operating margins.  
 
On 6 May 2016, Atlas completed the debt restructuring announced in December 2015. This debt restructure has 
resulted in the following:  

• Atlas has reduced its term loan debt from US$267M to US$135M and extended the maturity date from 
December 2017 to April 2021;  

• Atlas has reduced its annual cash interest expense by ~65% as a result of the lower debt balance and 
reduced cash interest rate;  

• Atlas has issued 6.23 billion fully paid ordinary shares and 4.51 billion options excerisable  at AU$0.075 per 
share to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in Atlas to the Term Loan Lenders (Lenders) such that the Lenders 
held 70% of all Atlas shares and options on issue at 6 May 2016; and  

• the Lenders and Atlas have entered into an amended Term Loan Agreement where the six monthly Asset 
Coverage Ratio covenant has been replaced with a minimum cash balance covenant requiring Atlas to have 
a minimum of AU$35 million at the end of each month.  

The Company has significantly reduced its full cash costs by 23.7% thanks largely to the continued success of the 
contractor collaboration agreements and other operating cost savings. The Company remains focused on further cost 
reduction and welcomed the announcement, by the WA Government on 28 June 2016, of the extension of reduced port 
charges until 30 June 2017. 
 

All of the above factors have placed Atlas in a stronger financial position at 30 June 2016 and provides further evidence 
of how Atlas and its shareholders stand to enjoy a brighter future following the successful restructures. 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
 
On 28 June 2016, Mr Flanagan resigned as Managing Director, and retired effective 5 August 2016. Non-Executive 
Director, Mr Harris, has been appointed as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and will continue in this role 
until a permanent replacement is appointed and commences employment with the Company. Thereafter, Mr Harris will 
revert to being a Non-Executive Director of the Company.   

On 29 August 2016, haulage provider McAleese Limited announced that it had entered into voluntary administration (Refer 
to Note 1(a) of the consolidated financial statements) and appointed McGrath Nicol as Administrators of the McAleese 
Group.  
 
No other matters have arisen since 30 June 2016, which have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.  
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
 
During the coming year, the Group plans to continue mining operations at its Wodgina, Abydos and Mt Webber mines 
under a revised operating strategy founded on the back of the contractor collaboration model. Production at Wodgina 
and Abydos will decrease towards the end of the financial year in accordance with their mine plans. 
  
The Group will continue work on exploration and evaluation activities, particularly at its existing projects, Corunna 
Downs and McPhee Creek, to progress these projects towards production.  
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
 
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration and mining activities. The Group 
aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, is aware of and is in 
compliance with all environmental legislation. The Directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of environmental 
legislation for the period under review. 
 
SHARE OPTIONS 
 
Unissued shares under options 
At the date of this report the following unissued ordinary shares under option are outstanding: 
 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Number of 

Listed Options 
Number of 

Unlisted Options 

 $    

Balance at the beginning of the period 4.20  -  100,000  

Options granted 0.07  6,258,748,303 189,803,513  

Options exercised 0.00  -  (92,443,627) 

Options forfeited 0.00  -  (7,532,681) 

Options expired 4.20  -  (100,000) 

Total number of options outstanding as at 30 June 
2016 

0.07  6,258,748,303  89,827,205  

Granted subsequent to balance date -  -  -  

Exercised subsequent to balance date  -  -  (46,037,838) 

Total number of options outstanding at the date of this 
report 

0.07  6,258,748,303  43,789,367  

 
The balance is comprised of the following: 
 

 
Options (Number) 

Class (Expiry date, exercise price 
and vesting status) 

Listed 
1,744,762,043 30/06/2017 $0.075 options all vested 

4,513,986,260 31/07/2017 $0.075 options all vested 

Unlisted 43,789,367 30/11/2020 $0.00 options all granted 

Total Options 6,302,537,670  

 
No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above have or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in 
any share issue of any other body corporate. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  
 
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Group, the 
Group secretaries and all Executive officers of the Group and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as a Director, Secretary or Executive Officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors have 
not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the directors’ 
and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the 
contract. The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Group or of any related body corporate against a liability 
incurred by an officer or auditor. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

 

Letter from the Remuneration and Nomination Committee Chairman 

 

 

Dear Shareholder 

On behalf of my fellow committee members and our Board, I am pleased to present our 2016 remuneration report.  

The remuneration report provides insight to shareholders into the Board’s decisions on how we remunerate and reward 

our Executive team to achieve our overall business strategy. The Board strives to align the structure of our Executive 

remuneration with shareholder expectations and will continue to engage with shareholders and proxy advisors to ensure 

their expectations are taken into consideration when planning for the future. The 2015 Remuneration Report received 

positive shareholder support with a vote of 98.0% in favour at the 2015 Annual General Meeting (2015 AGM). 

The 2016 financial year has seen continued volatility in the iron ore industry globally, and Atlas’ shareholders have felt 

the impact of this instability. The Board and Remuneration Committee are committed to delivering remuneration 

outcomes that are aligned to shareholder expectations.   

With this in mind, at the 2015 AGM, the Board sought and received shareholder approval to issue incentive options to 

employees. These options were subject to a vesting condition that required execution of a debt refinancing which was 

completed on 6 May 2016. 

The structure of our Executive’s remuneration package remains a key focus of our Board to ensure alignment with the 

resilient nature of Atlas’ business as it optimises operations, looks for incremental growth opportunities, and continues 

to reduce costs. 

I commend the Remuneration Report to you. 

Regards 

Alan Carr 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 

1. INTRODUCTION 

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and other Key Management Personnel (KMP) 
of the Group. For the purposes of this report “Executives” include Executive Directors and KMP. 

(i) Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) 

C. Edwardes AM 
(Hon) 

Director – from 6 June 2016 Part Year 

Chairman – to 6 June 2016 Part Year 

E. Davis Chairman – appointed 6 June 2016 Part Year 

Director – appointed 6 May 2016 Part Year 

D. Harris Director – appointed 6 May 2016 Part Year 

A. Carr Director – appointed 6 May 2016 Part Year 

S.Y. Tai Director – resigned effective 12 November 2015 Part Year 

J. Dowling Director – resigned effective 6 May 2016 Part Year 

(ii) Executive Director 

D. Flanagan* Managing Director Full Year 

D. Harris CEO and Managing Director – appointed 28 June 2016 Part Year 

K. Brinsden Non-Executive Director – resigned effective 6 May 2016 Part Year 

 Executive Director – to 1 September 2015 Part Year  

(iii) Other Executive KMPs 

J. Sinclair Chief Operating Officer Full Year 

B. Lynn Chief Financial Officer – resigned effective 1 September 2015 Part Year 

M. Hancock Chief Financial Officer – from 1 September 2015 Part Year 

Chief Commercial Officer – to 1 September 2015 Part Year 

T. Walsh** Company Secretary and Head of Corporate – from 12 October 2015 Part Year 

* On 28th June 2016, Mr Flanagan, Managing Director resigned. The Board put in place a transition plan when Mr Flanagan departed 
from the business on 5 August 2016. Mr Harris has been appointed CEO and Managing Director until a replacement Managing Director 
commences employment.  
** On 5th August 2016, Mr Walsh was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company. There were no other changes to the 
Executive group after the reporting date and before the date the financial report was authorised for issue. 

 
2. REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE 
2.1 Remuneration Committee 
On 6 June 2016 the Board resolved to split the Remuneration and Nomination Committee into a separate Remuneration 

Committee and Nomination and Governance Committee. 

The Atlas Board is responsible for ensuring that the remuneration arrangements for the Group are aligned with the 

overall business strategy and shareholders’ interests. The role of the Remuneration Committee is to advise the Board 

on Executive remuneration. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board on Executive remuneration 

arrangements, including where appropriate, all awards under the Long Term Incentive (LTI) plan and approves the level 

of the Short Term Incentive (STI) pool.  

The Remuneration Committee comprise the following Directors: 

Remuneration Committee Members  

C. Edwardes AM (Hon)               Committee Member 
A. Carr Committee Chair from 6 May 2016 
E. Davis Committee Member from 6 May 2016 
S.Y. Tai               Committee Chair to 12 November 2015 
J. Dowling 
K. Brinsden 

Committee Member to 6 May 2016 
Committee Member from 12 November 2015 to 6 May 2016 

 

The Remuneration Committee meets throughout the year as required and where Senior Management input is required, 

Management attends by invitation. Refer to page 26 for the number of Committee meetings held during the year. 

 
2.2 Independent Remuneration Consultants 
Given the continued market volatility over the past 12 months and the debt restructure completed on 6 May 2016, the 

Board determined on 6 June 2016 to undertake an independent remuneration review for the FY 17 year. This 

independent review was completed by Lyons Benenson & Company Inc., an independent remuneration consultant, in 

August 2016. 
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3. EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION ARRANGEMENTS 

The Board is committed to driving alignment between the remuneration arrangements of its Executives and KMP within 
the expectations of our shareholders, its employees and the Company’s sustainability.  
 
The Executive Remuneration Policy aims to reward Executives fairly and responsibly in accordance with the Australian 
market and ensure that the Group: 
− provides competitive rewards that attract, retain and motivate Executives of the highest calibre; 
− sets demanding levels of performance which are clearly linked to an Executive’s remuneration; 
− structures remuneration at a level that reflects the Executive’s duties and accountabilities and is competitive 

within Australia and, where applicable, internationally; 
− benchmarks remuneration against appropriate comparator groups;  
− aligns Executive incentive rewards with the creation of value for shareholders; and  
− complies with applicable legal requirements and appropriate standards of governance. 

 
The following table illustrates how the remuneration strategy aligns with the strategic direction, and how the various 

elements of the remuneration arrangements for Executives are linked to performance. 

 

 
3.1 Remuneration mix 
The remuneration arrangements for Executives consist of fixed remuneration, short term incentives and long term 
incentives. Market trends, strategic business objectives and shareholder interests are considered when determining the 
mix of remuneration and how each component will drive desired outcomes. Based on these considerations, the 
following summarises the target remuneration components for Atlas Executives for the 2016 financial year. 

Strategic purpose 
We deliver mineral products that create value for our shareholders, our people, customers and the communities we 
operate within. 
 

Remuneration strategy linkage to business objectives 
To align the interests of Executives with shareholders and to attract, motivate and retain high performing individuals. 
 

FIXED REMUNERATION 
Purpose: 
To provide a competitive fixed remuneration element based on criticality of role, market and individual skills and 
experience. 
 
Instrument: 
Comprises of a base salary, statutory superannuation contributions and other fixed benefits. 
 
Performance link: 
Strategically aligned individual performance objectives are assessed annually during remuneration reviews. 
 

AT RISK SHORT TERM INCENTIVE (STI) 
Purpose: 
To reward Executives for business success in achieving short term objectives and for their contribution to the 
achievements of the organisation as a whole and their business units. 
 
Instrument: 
Paid in cash and equity.  
 
Performance link: 
For KMPs the short term incentive plan is structured so an individual KPI achievement is required to be met to qualify 
for the overall corporate objectives. Corporate measures are to drive a focus on leading and lagging safety outcomes 
and earnings.  
 
At the Board’s absolute discretion, the STI plan for Executives may include a deferral element awarded as equity. 

AT RISK LONG TERM INCENTIVE (LTI) 
Purpose: 
To reward Executives for business success in achieving long term objectives and for their contribution to the 
achievements of the organisation as a whole and their business units. 
 
Instrument: 
Paid in equity.  
 
Performance link: 
For KMPs the long term incentive plan is structured so that 100% is linked to long term performance outcomes 
determined by the Board.  
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Targeted remuneration mix:    

Fixed remuneration    Target STI   Target LTI   

Managing Director 35% 
 

33% 
 

 
32% 

 
 

Other Executives 40% 
 

31% 
 

 
29% 

 
 

The Board sought and received shareholder approval to issue zero priced incentive options to employees at the 2015 

AGM. These options vested in May 2016 on completion of the debt restructure. 

 
3.2 Remuneration components 
3.2.1 Fixed remuneration 
KMPs are provided a competitive fixed remuneration element based on criticality of role, market comparator data and 
individual skills and experience. Fixed remuneration consists of base pay and superannuation. 
 
3.2.2 Short term incentive (STI) plan 
In FY 2016 the STI plan is linked to an individual performance rating (Personal Component) and an overall corporate 
cash earnings objective with a safety requirement (Corporate Component). At the beginning of the financial year, 
targets were approved for the 2016 financial year, all of which aimed at driving business growth, generating efficiencies 
in cost and importantly driving shareholder value. The STI plan aims to drive the organisation to achieve its shorter term 
milestones that, in turn, provide the foundations for long term growth and thus, greater shareholder wealth. 
 
Personal Component 
KMPs are set personal KPIs and performance rating targets which must be achieved before an STI is awarded 
(Personal Component). If the personal performance rating is not achieved then no STI is awarded to that individual 
irrespective of corporate target performance. 
 
Corporate Component 
KMP’s are only eligible for the Corporate Component of the FY 2016 STI plan if the business achieves a certain positive 
cash generation measure (Earnings Performance Gateway) and meets a minimum Total Recordable Injury Frequency 
Rate result (TRIFR) (Safety Result).   
 
In the event that the Earnings Performance Gateway hurdle or Safety Result is not met, STI will not be awarded. The 
Earnings Performance Gateway is calculated as the Atlas realised selling price less Full Cash Costs including 
contractor profit share multiplied by tonnes sold in the period. 
 
A linear approach is taken in the classification intervals between the Earnings Performance Gateway and TRIFR levels 
when calculating the STI award.  
 
Table (i) 
 

Personal Component  Corporate Target 

  
Earnings Performance 

Gateway 
 

   Safety Results 

Individual Performance 
Rating ≥2 
 

  Earnings Defined Pool  TRIFR Safety 

 $75m $3.5m  <7 100% 

   X 7 100% 

 $50m $2.25m  8 70% 

    10 0% 

  $25m $1.0m    

 
At 30 June 2016, the minimum Earnings Performance Gateway was met with Cash Earnings for the period of AU$40.3 

million resulting in a Defined Pool of AU$1.8 million. The TRIFR for the period was 8.69 resulting in a final STI pool of 

AU$0.8 million which is to be distributed amongst all employees based on the individual’s performance rating. 

At 30 June 2016, 69% (2015: 100%) of KMPs Corporate STI payments have been forfeited as full performance targets 

were not met.  

Going forward, the Board is reviewing both the STI plan and is considering complementing it with a longer term equity 

plan to preserve cash and increase employees’ equity ownership in the Company. 

 



 

 

 

 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Directors’ Report (continued) 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT 19 

3.2.3 Short term incentive deferred plan 
Whilst STI plans pay rewards over a short period of time i.e. twelve months, Atlas has taken into consideration feedback 

from shareholders and proxy advisors and has deferred up to 20% of KMPs rewards since the financial year 2014. No 

STI was deferred in the 2015 financial year given no STI was awarded during the year and no deferred STI was offered 

to employees in FY 2016 given the focus on short term financial restructuring. 

The STI deferral plan is currently being reviewed by the Board following the debt restructure completed on 6 May 2016. 

 
3.2.4 Long term incentive (LTI) plan 
Zero priced options were issued, following shareholder approval at the 2015 AGM. The options vested on the first to 
occur of:  

- 31 December 2017 (the expiry date of the original Term Loan B Facility);  
- the existing Term Loan B is refinanced or restructured to the satisfaction of the Board in its absolute 

discretion; or  
- a Change of Control Event occurs, as that term is defined in the Rules. 

These options vested upon the successful completion of the restructure on 6 May 2016. As in previous financial years, 
eligibility to any LTI reward is subject to the participant’s continuous service over the term of the plan at the point of 
vesting.  

The zero priced options percentage of TFR issued for Executives is shown in the table below: 

 

 

Managing 

Director 
Other KMPs 

LTI target % of TFR 100% 80% 

 

4. EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR  

In relation to the 2016 financial year, AU$0.8 million in STI’s were awarded and 189 million zero priced options were 
issued, following shareholder approval at the 2015 AGM.     
 
In considering the Group’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Remuneration Committee has regard 
to the following measures in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years: 
 

 30-Jun-16 30-Jun-15  30-Jun-14  30-Jun-13  30-Jun-12  

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the company 

($’000) 
(159,014) (1,377,689) 17,437  (241,886) (114,616) 

Underlying (loss)/profit after tax * (unaudited) 

($’000) 
(57,694) (240,168) 18,590  (73,193) 72,181  

Cash earnings ($’000)** 40,230  (109,449) 115,542  12,083  120,562  

Change in share price ($) (0.11) (0.51)  (0.10) (1.27) (1.71) 

Ore shipped (WMT) – Mtpa 14.5  12.2  10.9  7.4  5.6  

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (4.5) (150.1) 1.6  (27.0) (13.0) 

Dividend (cents per share) -  -  2.0  3.0  3.0  

TRIFR 8.69  7.36  6.69  9.37  6.44  

* Note that the underlying profit (non-IFRS measure) was a measure introduced for the year ended 30 June 2012 to better reflect the 
performance of the Group. 

** Cash earnings is a measure introduced for the year ended 30 June 2016. (Average price per tonne received less Full Cash Costs        
times by tonnes sold). 

 
The outcomes of the LTI awards issued for the period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016 are summarised in the table below: 

 Target Instrument Weighting Outcome 

Total Shareholder Return 
Performance rights 25% Not achieved 

Share appreciation rights 25% Not achieved 

Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
Performance rights 25% Not achieved 

Share appreciation rights 25% Not achieved 

 

As shown in the table above, as a result of the Company’s share price depreciation and earnings performance over the 

period, the Total Shareholder Return and Earnings Per Share target were not met and therefore no performance or 

share appreciation rights were issued relating to the LTI award issued for the period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016.  
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5. EXECUTIVE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS 

Remuneration arrangements and conditions of employment for Executives are formalised in Executive Service 
Agreements or Contracts of Employment.  

The agreements relating to remuneration for the 2016 financial year are set out below: 

 
D. Harris

1
 D. Flanagan

2 
M. Hancock

3 
J. Sinclair

4 
T. Walsh

5 

TFR per annum $818,783 $669,790 $492,750 $491,861 $450,000 

Resignation notice 60 days 6 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 

Termination notice for cause None None None None None 

Termination notice without 
cause 

30 days 12 months 6 months  6 months  6 months 

Termination in case of illness, 
injury or incapacity 

None 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 

STI target % of TFR FY 2016 None 50% 40% 40% 40% 

Redundancy NES* NES* 

Greater of 4 
weeks for every 

year of service or 
6 months 

Greater of 4 
weeks for every 

year of service or 
6 months 

Greater of 4 
weeks for every 

year of service or 
6 months 

1 
CEO and Managing Director – contract due to end 27 September 2016. 

2 
Managing Director and CEO – retired effective 5 August 2016. 

3 
Chief Commercial Officer up to 1 September 2015 appointed Chief Financial Officer 1 September 2015. 

4 
Chief Operations Officer. 

5 
Company Secretary and Head of Corporate. Appointed as Executive Director 5 August 2016. 

* In line with National Employment Standards 

 
Other retirement benefits may be provided directly by the Group if approved by shareholders. 

5.1  KMP equity ownership 

As mentioned above, the Board took into consideration both shareholder and investor feedback in relation to equity 

ownership amongst its’ Executives and introduced a STI deferral plan for KMPs in 2014. In addition KMPs were issued 

zero price incentive options in November 2015 which vested on 6 May 2016. In line with market practice, a minimum 

shareholding obligation is not enforced. As mentioned above, the Board is currently reviewing the STI plan, STI deferral 

plan and LTI plan. 

 

6. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION 

The key principle underpinning Non-Executive Director (NED) remuneration is the need to attract high calibre and 
resilient Directors to direct the current business and into the future. 

The Board’s policy is to periodically review its approach to NED remuneration and seeks independent advice to ensure 
its NED fees remain competitive with other similarly sized mining production companies listed on the ASX.  

No element of NEDs remuneration is linked to the performance of the Company as Directors’ fees are the only form of 
remuneration for the NEDs. However, to create alignment with shareholders, NEDs are encouraged to hold equity 
securities in the Company. At the date of this report some NEDs hold some form of equity securities in the Company. All 
Directors are subject to the Company’s “Guidelines for Dealing in Securities”.  

The Company makes superannuation contributions on behalf of the NEDs in accordance with its statutory 
superannuation obligations, and each Director may sacrifice part of their fee for a further superannuation contribution by 
the Company.  

NED fees are not paid to the Managing Director or any other executive director as the time spent on Board work and the 
responsibilities of Board membership are considered in determining the remuneration package provided as part of 
normal employment conditions. The total remuneration paid to, or in respect of, each NED during the year is set out in 
this report. 

The remuneration structure of NEDs from the 6th May 2016 consists of both Director fees and committee fees. The 

Chairman of the Board does not receive any additional fees for his or her role on any committees.   
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Fees (including superannuation payments) are as follows: 

Director Fees (including superannuation) $ 

Chairman to 6 May 180,000 

Chairman from 6 May 200,000 

Non-Executive Directors to 6 May 115,276 

Non-Executive Directors from 6 May 150,000 

 

  
Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee 
$ 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

$ 

Committee Chair to 6 May 8,500 12,750 

Committee Member to 6 May 4,250   6,376 

 

7. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and KMPs 
are: 

 
Superannuation is paid on salaries, fees and STI.  
(1) Mr Brinsden’s disclosure includes his reportable benefit for FBT.  
(2) Rights comprise fair value at grant of performance rights and share appreciation rights. Subsequent to the year end the Board 

resolved not to vest any LTI’s relating to the performance period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2016.   

(3)  Comprises STI awarded based on current year performance. 

(4) Accounting fair value of employee share options at grant date. Actual value to the individuals will depend on the Atlas share price at 

date of exercise or sale.  

  

Total

$

 % of remuneration 

performance 

based 

Salary & fees STI (3)

Short-term 

compensated 

absences

Other (1)
Super-

annuation

Termination 

benefit

Movement in 

long service 

leave 

provision

Rights (2) Options (4) STI and Rights

2016 26,456 - - - - - - - - 26,456 0%

2015 - - - - - - - - - - 0%

2016 165,546 - - - 15,727 - - - - 181,273 0%

2015 12,736 - - - 1,210 - - - - 13,946 0%

2016 22,984 - - - - - - - - 22,984 0%

2015 - - - - - - - - - - 0%

2016 44,341 - - - 4,212 - - - - 48,554 0%

2015 115,672 - - - 10,989 - - - - 126,660 0%

2016 104,213 - - - 9,900 - - - - 114,113 0%

2015 131,267 - - - 12,470 - - - - 143,737 0%

2016 627,576 94,254 - - 59,620 - - - 564,606 1,346,056 49%

2015 350,758 - - - 33,322 - - - - 384,080 0%

2016 30,206 - - - - - - - - 30,206 0%

2015 - - - - - - - - - - 0%

2016 184,061 - 109,055 14,605 30,000 790,232 69,722 - - 1,197,675 0%

2015 671,184 - (4,011) - 58,793 - 11,604 (62,221) - 675,349 -9%

Mark Hancock (Chief Commercial Officer up to 1 September 2015, appointed Chief Financial Officer 1 September 2015)

2016 462,750 55,473 6,833 - 30,000 - 45,538 75,562 332,295 1,008,450 46%

2015 467,880 - (37,751) - 30,000 - 28,228 (18,343) - 470,014 -4%

2016 461,671 55,373 5,590 - 30,000 - 48,878 74,142 331,695 1,007,348 46%

2015 471,467 - (11,906) - 29,995 - 24,421 (18,002) - 495,975 -4%

2016 94,317 - - - 7,500 - - - - 101,817 0%

2015 378,716 - 11,562 - 30,000 - - - - 420,278 0%

2016 294,688 36,364 (993) - 28,246 - - - 303,466 661,770 51%

2015 - - - - - - - - - - 0%

2016 2,518,809 241,464 120,485 14,605 215,205 790,232 164,137 149,704 1,532,061 5,746,702 33%

2015 2,599,679 - (42,106) - 206,779 - 64,253 (98,566) - 2,730,039 -4%

Eugene Davis- Appointed as Chairman effective 6 May 2016

Short-term employee benefits Post-employment benefits Accounting value of long term benefits

(Non-Cash)

Directors

Non-executive directors

Executive directors

David Flanagan (Chairman up to 11 June 2015, appointed Managaging Director 11 June 2015, retired effective 5 August 2016)

Cheryl Edwardes (Hon) - Appointed as Director effective 6 May 2015, Chairmain from 11 June 2015 up to 6 May 2016, Director from 6 May 2016

Alan Carr - Appointed as Director effective 6 May 2016

Sook Yee Tai - Resignation effective 12 November 2015

Jeff Dowling  - Resignation effective 6 May 2016

Daniel Harris - (Appointed as Director effective from 6 May 2016 up 27 June 2016, appointed CEO and Managing Director 27 June 2016)

Total

Ken Brinsden (Managing Director up to 11 June 2015, appointed Executive Director 11 June 2015 to 15 September 2015, appointed Non Executive Director from 15 September 2015, resignation effective 6 May 2016)

Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Jeremy Sinclair (Chief Operations Officer) 

Brian Lynn (Chief Financial Officer - Appointed 20 January 2014, Resignation effective 1 September 2015)

Tony Walsh (Company Secretary - Appointed 12 October 2015)
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7.1  Short Term Incentives 
Performance income as a proportion of total compensation. 
Details of the Group’s policy in relation to the proportion of remuneration that is performance related are discussed in 

Section 3.22. Based on cash earnings and safety performance for FY 2016, an aggregate of $808,000 STI’s were 

awarded to all employees which is due to be paid in September 2016. Details of the portion of the maximum STI that 

were earned and forfeited in relation to the 2016 financial year is detailed above: 

 
Included in remuneration 

(inclusive of superannuation) 

$ 

Earned during 2016 Forfeited during 2016 

David Flanagan 94,251 30.8% 69.2% 

Mark Hancock 55,472 30.8% 69.2% 

Jeremy Sinclair 55,372 30.8% 69.2% 

Tony Walsh 36,364 30.8% 69.2% 

The STI forfeited in the year was as a result of the Group not achieving its internal corporate targets in full. 

7.2 Long Term Incentives 
Details of Performance Rights (PRs) and Share Appreciation Rights (SARs) over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited, 

that were issued prior to FY 2016, that are held by KMP at 30 June 2016 are detailed below: 

 

Number of PRs 
PRs held at the 

beginning of year PRs Granted 
during 2016 

Forfeited Vested Other 

PRs at the end 
of year 

1 July 2015 30 June 2016 

Executive Directors    

Ken Brinsden* 987,638  -  (500,448) -  -  487,190  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 304,909  -  (77,197) -  -  227,712  

Jeremy Sinclair 299,190  -  (75,757) -  -  223,433  

Total 1,591,737  -  (653,402) -  -  938,335  

* Resignation effective 6 May 2016.  

 

Number of SARs 
SARs held at the 
beginning of year SARs Granted 

during 2016 
Forfeited Vested Other 

SARs at the end 
of year 

1 July 2015 30 June 2016 

Executive Directors  

Ken Brinsden* 2,302,994  -  (1,148,251) -  -  1,154,743  

Executives       

Mark Hancock 711,304  -  (171,578) -  -  539,726  

Jeremy Sinclair 697,961  -  (168,377) -  -  529,584  

Total 3,712,259  -  (1,488,206) -  -  2,224,053  

* Resignation effective 6 May 2016. 

Modification of terms of equity settled share-based transactions 
No terms of options or rights over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited have been altered or modified by the issuing 

entity during the year or the prior year.  

Board policy in relation to hedging unvested equity 
The Board limits employees from entering into transactions that limit the economic risk of participating in unvested 

employee entitlements. Each Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) option and rights is personal to the holder and is not 

transferable, transmissible, assignable or chargeable without permission of the Board. Without prior approval and 

subject to compliance with the Corporations Act 2001, Directors and Key Management Personnel should not enter into 

agreements that provide lenders with rights over their interests in the Company’s shares and options, such as the 

disposal of the Company’s shares or options, that is the result of a secured lender exercising its right. Before entering 

into such arrangements, Directors and senior management must receive clearance from the Board. The LTIP rules state 

that an employee must not transfer, assign, dispose of or grant any security interests over or otherwise deal with any 

rights. 
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Exercise of options granted as compensation 
During the reporting period, the following shares were issued to KMPs on the exercise of zero priced incentive options 

previously granted as compensation: 

 

There were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued as a result of the exercise of the options in FY 2016.  

 
Analysis of options granted as compensation 

Details of options over ordinary shares in Atlas Iron Limited that were granted during FY 2016 as compensation to 

Directors, Executives and Key Management Personnel is detailed below: 

 

* The fair value of options granted during the year is calculated at grant date using the closing share price. The total is allocated to 
remuneration over the vesting period. 
** Options exercised in July 2016. 

 

The options were provided at no cost to the recipients. Valuation assumptions are disclosed in Note 4 of the financial 

statements. 

 

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or can be forfeited on termination of the individual’s employment. 

  

 Number of shares Amount paid per share $ 

Executives   

Mark Hancock 5,000,000 0.00 

Jeremy Sinclair 6,285,004 0.00 

Tony Walsh 11,239,465 0.00 

 
Grant 
Date 

No. of 
Options 
Granted 

During FY 
2016 

Vesting 
Date 

Fair Value 
at Grant Date*

 

Exercise 
Price per 
Option 

Expiry Date 

Number of 
Options Vested 

During FY   
2016 

Directors    

David Flanagan   6/11/2015 20,911,333  6/05/2016 564,606 0.00 13/11/2020 20,911,333** 

Executives        

Mark Hancock   6/11/2015  12,307,211      6/05/2016 332,295 0.00 13/11/2020 12,307,211 

Jeremy Sinclair   6/11/2015 12,285,004  6/05/2016 331,695 0.00 13/11/2020 12,285,004 

Tony Walsh   6/11/2015 11,239,465  6/05/2016 303,466 0.00 13/11/2020 11,239,465 
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Analysis of movement in options 
The movement during FY 2016, by value of options over ordinary shares granted in Atlas Iron Limited as remuneration 

held by each of the Directors, Executives and Key Management Personnel is detailed below: 

 
(A) – Includes options granted as remuneration. 
(B) – The value of options granted as remuneration during the year is the fair value of the options calculated at grant date using closing 
share price.  
(C) – The value of options exercised, or disposed of, during the year is calculated as the market price of the shares of the Group 
calculated as the 5 day VWAP as at close of trading on the date the options were exercised after deducting the price paid to exercise 
the option. 

*Directors and KMP who resigned during the current financial year. 

 
7.3 Option holdings of Key Management Personnel 

(A) - Includes options granted as remuneration. 
(B) - Includes options granted as free-attaching options with share purchase. 

*Directors and KMP who resigned during the current financial year. 

  

 
No of 

Options 
Granted (A) 

Value of Options 
Granted (B) 

Value of 
Options 

Exercised (C) 

Value of 
Options 

Disposed (C) 

Value of 
Options Lapsed 

  $ $ $ $ 

Directors   

Eugene Davis - - - - - 

Hon. Cheryl Edwardes (AM) - - - - - 

David Flanagan* 20,911,333 564,606 - - - 

Alan Carr - - - - - 

Daniel Harris - - - - - 

Sook Yee Tai* - - - - - 

Jeff Dowling* - - - - - 

Ken Brinsden* - - - - - 

Executives      

Mark Hancock 12,307,211 332,295 109,500 - - 

Jeremy Sinclair 12,285,004 331,695 131,357 - - 

Tony Walsh 11,239,465 303,466 246,144 - - 

Total 56,743,013 1,532,062 487,001 - - 

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year 
1 July 2015 

Options 
Granted 

(A) 

Options 
Acquired (B) 

Options 
Exercised 

Other 

Held at 
30 June 2016 

(vested & 
exercisable) 

Directors     

Eugene Davis - - - - - - 

Hon. Cheryl Edwardes 
(AM) 

- - 200,000 - - 200,000 

David Flanagan* - 20,911,333 4,000,000 - - 24,911,333 

Alan Carr - - - - - - 

Daniel Harris - - - - - - 

Sook Yee Tai* - - - - - - 

Jeff Dowling* - - 600,000 - (600,000) - 

Ken Brinsden* - - 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 

Executives       

Mark Hancock - 12,307,211 600,000 (5,000,000) - 7,907,211 

Jeremy Sinclair - 12,285,004 - (6,285,004) - 6,000,000 

Tony Walsh - 11,239,465 - (11,239,465) - - 

Total - 56,743,013 7,900,000 (22,524,469) (3,100,000) 39,018,544 
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7.4 Shareholdings of key management personnel  
 

*Directors and KMP who resigned during the current financial year. 

 
Remuneration report ends here. 
 
  

 

Balance at 
beginning 

of year 
1 July 2015 

Shares 
Purchased 

Shares 
acquired on 
vesting of 

LTIP or 
exercise of 

option 

Shares 
sold 

Shares held at 
appointment/ 

departure 

Held at 
30 June 

2016 

Directors    

Eugene Davis - - - - - - 

Hon. Cheryl Edwardes 
(AM) 

8,100 200,000 - - - 208,100 

David Flanagan* 2,840,000 4,000,000 - - - 6,840,000 

Alan Carr - - - - - - 

Daniel Harris - - - - - - 

Sook Yee Tai* - - - - - - 

Jeff Dowling* 125,000 600,000 - - (725,000) - 

Ken Brinsden* 709,745 2,500,000 - - (3,209,745) - 

Executives       

Mark Hancock 554,734 600,000 5,000,000 (5,000,000) - 1,154,734 

Jeremy Sinclair 25,214 - 6,285,004 (6,285,004) - 25,214 

Tony Walsh 14,719 - 11,239,465 (11,254,184) - - 

Brian Lynn* 25,000 - - - (25,000) - 

Total 4,302,512 7,900,000 22,524,469 (22,539,188) (3,959,745) 8,228,048 
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DIRECTORS' MEETINGS  
 
Attendance of Directors’ meetings held during the year are set out below: 

 
Directors’ 
Meetings 

Audit and 
Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration 
and 

Nomination 
Committee 

 A B A B A B 

David Flanagan 23 23 - - - - 

Hon. Cheryl Edwardes (AM) 23 23 3 3 2 2 

Ken Brinsden (resigned 6 May 2016) 22 22 2 2 - - 

Jeff Dowling (resigned 6 May 2016) 22 21 3 3 2 2 

Sook Yee Tai (resigned 12 November 2015) 11 8 1 1 2 2 

Daniel Harris (appointed 6 May 2016) 1 1 - - - - 

Alan Carr (appointed 6 May 2016) 1 1 - - - - 

Eugene Davis (appointed 6 May 2016) 1 1 - - - - 

 
A - Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year. 
B - Number of meetings attended.  
 

 
CORPORATE STRUCTURE  
The Group is an Australian listed public group limited by shares domiciled in Australia. The Group has prepared a 
consolidated financial report to include entities that it controlled during the financial years as shown in Note 30 of the 
financial statements. 
 
ROUNDING  
The Group is of the kind specified in ASIC Corporations Instruments 2016/191, dated 1 April 2016. In accordance with 
the class order, amounts in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars 
unless specifically stated to be otherwise. 
 
AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE  
The auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 71 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2016. 
 
NON-AUDIT SERVICES  
Non-audit services provided by the Group's auditor, KPMG, and associated entities, during the year ended 30 June 
2016 are disclosed in Note 26 to the financial statements. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to S298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

 

 

Daniel Harris 

CEO and Managing Director 

Perth, 30 August 2016
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

 
Notes 

2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

Revenue  785,755  718,474  

Operating costs 2 (773,986) (889,739) 

Gross profit/(loss)  11,769  (171,265) 

    

Other income 6 12,426  2,737  

Exploration and evaluation expense  (3,526) (5,189) 

Impairment loss  3 (97,098) (980,371) 

Share of loss of equity accounted investees   (106) (3,587) 

(Loss)/gain on listed investments  -  (687) 

(Loss)/gain on financial instruments  (5,863) 11,575  

Depreciation and amortisation  (2,763) (4,947) 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (349) (1,071) 

Administrative expenses 5 (24,152) (24,888) 

Other expenses 7 (7,707) (62,249) 

Results from operating activities  (117,369) (1,239,942) 

Finance income  8 1,116  4,916  

Finance expense 8 (35,143) (36,458) 

Loss on foreign exchange  8 (13,100) (39,339) 

Gain on debt restructure 19 5,482  -  

Net finance expense  (41,645) (70,881) 

Loss before income tax  (159,014) (1,310,823) 

Tax expense 9 -  (67,003) 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (159,014) (1,377,826) 

    
Other comprehensive income    

Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss    

Foreign currency translation differences – foreign operations  -  (79) 

Share of associates’ movements in foreign currency translation reserve  (39) 329  

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (39) 250  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
OWNERS OF THE GROUP 

 (159,053) (1,377,576) 

Loss attributable to:    

    Owners of the parent  (159,014) (1,377,689) 

    Non-controlling interest  -  (137) 

  (159,014) (1,377,826) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:    

    Owners of the parent  (159,053) (1,377,450) 

    Non-controlling interest  -  (126) 

  (159,053) (1,377,576) 

Loss per share    

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) 25 (4.53) (150.08) 

    
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes. 
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AT 30 JUNE 2016 

 
Notes 

2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

CURRENT ASSETS  

Cash and cash equivalents 22(b) 80,853  73,305  

Trade and other receivables 11 36,509  23,973  

Prepayments 12 13,368  15,239  

Financial assets  1,865  604  

Inventories 13 16,728  15,604  

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  149,323  128,725  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Other receivables 11 5,029  12,008  

Prepayments 12 -  6,875  

Investment in equity accounted investees  -  414  

Property, plant and equipment 14 96,579  129,076  

Intangibles  696  1,586  

Mine development costs 15 297,660  338,222  

Evaluation expenditure - reserve development  16 21,340  17,140  

Mining tenements 17 62,594  141,414  

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  483,898  646,735  

TOTAL ASSETS  633,221  775,460  

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 18 64,346  110,319  

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 3,632  3,581  

Employee benefits  1,235  1,769  

Provisions 20 9,602  7,214  

Financial Liabilities  2,600  -  

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  81,415  122,883  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 18 6,822  4,000  

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 19 185,716  335,939  

Employee benefits  782  569  

Provisions 20 88,820  91,409  

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  282,140  431,917  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  363,555  554,800  

NET ASSETS  269,666  220,660  

    

EQUITY    

Share capital 21(a) 2,197,388  1,991,630  

Reserves 21(d) 42,030  29,682  

Accumulated losses  (1,969,752) (1,810,738) 

Other equity 21(f) -  10,086  

TOTAL EQUITY  269,666  220,660  

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

 

Share capital Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Associate’s 
reserve 

Accumulated 
(losses) 

Other 
Equity 

Total 

equity 

 

 $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2015 1,991,630  30,045   (363) (1,810,738) 10,086  220,660  

Total comprehensive loss for the year      

Loss for the year -  -  -  (159,014) -  (159,014) 

Total other comprehensive loss  -  -  (39) -  -  (39) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax -  -  (39) (159,014) -  (159,053) 

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Group    

Issue of ordinary shares and options through debt 
restructure 

124,354  9,273  -  -  -  133,627  

Issue of ordinary shares through capital raising (net of 
costs) 

78,593  -  -  -  (10,086) 68,507  

Issue of ordinary shares through tenement acquisition 250  -  -  -  -  250  

Treasury shares 65  -  -  -  -  65  

Share based payment transactions -  5,208  -  -  -  5,208  

Transfers from share based payments  2,496  (2,496) -  -  -  -  

Derecognition of associate on loss of significant 
influence 

-  -  402  -  -  402  

Total transactions with owners of the Company 205,758  11,985  402  -  (10,086) 208,059  

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2016 2,197,388  42,030  -  (1,969,752) -  269,666  

       
 
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

Share 
capital 

Share-based 
payments 

reserve

Disposal 
group and 
asset held 

for sale 

Associates’ 

reserve 

Accumulated 
(losses)

Other 

 Equity 

Total Disposal 
group non-
controlling 

interest 
held for 

sale 

Total 

equity 

 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2014 1,989,359  30,604  (1,164) (692) (414,735) -  1,603,372  3,788  1,607,160  

Total comprehensive loss for the year         

Loss for the year -  -  -  -  (1,377,689) -  (1,377,689) (137) (1,377,826) 

Total other comprehensive 
income/(loss)  

-  -  (90) 329  -  -  239  11  250  

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year, net of tax 

-  -  (90) 329  (1,377,689) -  (1,377,450) (126) (1,377,576) 

Contributions by and distributions to owners of the Group        

Issue of ordinary shares from 
dividend reinvestment plan 

2,086  -  -  -  -  -  2,086  -  2,086  

Treasury shares 56  -  -  -  -  -  56  -  56  

Share-based payment 
transactions 

129  (559) -  -  -  -  (430) -  (430) 

Payment of dividends -  -  -  -  (18,314) -  (18,314) -  (18,314) 

Shares to be issued -  -  -  -  -  10,086  10,086  -  10,086  

Deconsolidation of disposal group 
held for sale 

-  -  1,254  -  -  -  1,254  (3,662) (2,408) 

Total transactions with owners 
of the Company 

2,271  (559) 1,254  -  (18,314) 10,086  (5,262) (3,662) (8,924) 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2015 1,991,630  30,045  -  (363) (1,810,738) 10,086  220,660  -  220,660  

          
 
 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 

 
Notes 

2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Cash receipts from customers  754,155  725,882  

Payments to suppliers and employees  (720,379) (790,095) 

Interest received  854  2,315  

Payments for expenditure on exploration and evaluation activities  (3,525) (5,189) 

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 22(a) 31,105  (67,087) 

    

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Payments for property, plant and equipment   (605) (15,234) 

Payments for mine development  (9,777) (82,007) 

Payments for intangible assets  (81) (411) 

Payment for reserve development costs  (4,750) (4,774) 

Payments for interests in equity accounted investees  -  (250) 

Loan to joint venture  (264) (1,311) 

Loan to joint operation partner  -  (6,636) 

Net proceeds received from sale of tenements  -  528  

Net proceeds from financial assets  -  1,020  

Proceeds from release of bank guarantees  91  21,248  

Proceeds from other entities including associated entities  27  1,788  

Stamp duty paid in relation to acquisition of tenements  (2,581) (1,694) 

Net (payments)/proceeds from financial instruments  (5,467) 6,675  

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (23,407) (81,058) 

    

CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Debt restructure costs  (16,104) -  

Repayment of Term Loan B  (16,938) (3,394) 

Net repayments from pre-export finance  -  (14,304) 

Interest payments on borrowing facilities  (29,537) (30,650) 

Proceeds from royalty assistance program  21,511  -  

Repayment of royalty assistance program  (6,147) -  

Dividends paid  -  (16,229) 

Proceeds from/(payments for) issue of shares (net of costs)  46,584  (1,744) 

Repayment of finance lease  (1,292) -  

Payments for shares acquired by Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust  -  (219) 

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (1,923) (66,540) 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  5,775  (214,685) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   73,305  264,242  

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  1,773  23,748  

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 22(b) 80,853  73,305  

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Atlas Iron Limited (the Company) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). The consolidated financial statements of Atlas Iron Limited for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the Group or Atlas) and 
the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities. The Group is a for-profit entity and its principal activity is 
the exploration, development and operation of mines in the Pilbara region in Western Australia.  

 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. These financial statements were 
approved by the Board on 30 August 2016. 

 

(a) Basis of preparation 
Statement of compliance 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 
2001. The financial report of the Group complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following items 
measured at fair value: 

• share-based payment transactions; 

• financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss; and 

• derivative and other financial instruments.  

 
Functional and presentation currency 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group’s functional currency. 
The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations Instruments 2016/191, dated 1 April 2016 and, in accordance 
with that Corporations Instrument, amounts in the Directors’ Report and financial report have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
Going Concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the realisation of assets and 
the discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
 
As at 30 June 2016, the Company has net assets of AU$269.7 million which have increased by AU$49.0 million since 30 
June 2015 mainly from: 

• completion of the Term Loan B debt for equity restructure in May 2016 which reduced the loan by US$132 
million; 

• lower operating costs due to the contractor collaboration agreement and other cost initiatives, a focus on cost 
control; and 

• gross margin from increased tonnes shipped in the year ended 30 June 2016. 
 
The above favourable movement in net assets is offset by non-cash impairment charge of AU$97.1 million due to 
continued volatility in iron ore price. The Company has positive net current assets as at 30 June 2016 of AU$67.9 million.  
 
In May 2016 the Company successfully completed the restructure of its Term loan B. The key terms of the restructure 
are as follows:  

• Atlas reduced its term loan debt from US$267 million to US$135 million; 
• extended the maturity date from December 2017 to April 2021;  
• reduced its cash interest expense by over 65% as result of the lower debt balance and reduced interest rate; 

and 
• The TLB lenders were issued shares and options such that, immediately post the restructure, they held 70.0% 

of the Company’s shares and options on issue. Refer to Note 19 for further details.  
 
Under the completed restructure, the Asset Coverage Ratio test in the original loan agreement has now been replaced. 
It includes among other requirements a more transparent requirement that the Company has a minimum of AU$35 
million in cash at the end of each month. As at 30 June 2016, the restructured debt remains in good standing and Atlas 
is in compliance with all obligations. The Company’s net debt position (cash and cash equivalents less drawn debt 
facilities) is AU$108.5 million as at 30 June 2016 which is summarised as follows: 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Cash   80,853  73,305  

Debt  (182,172) (349,121) 

Finance Lease  (7,176) -  

Net debt  (108,495) (275,816) 

 

The Company prepares rolling 12 month cash flow forecasts. The cash flow forecast to August 2017 (the forecast 
period) has a positive working capital balance throughout that period.  

The material assumptions adopted by the directors in the cash flow forecasts include: 

• Forecast iron ore price for the forecast period of between AU$64 and AU$79 per tonne (benchmark IODEX 
62% Fe CFR China). The USD 62% Fe CFR China price and the AU$:US$ foreign exchange rate, have been 
independently sourced.  

• Estimated sale of 16.2 million tonnes for the 14 month period ended 31 August 2017. 
• Forecast cost savings based on the contractor collaboration Deed for the Abydos and Wodgina mines.  
• A significant contribution from the sale of lump product from both the Abydos and Mt Webber mines 

generating an expected premium to the standard fines product of Atlas.  
• Repayment of royalty relief in quarterly instalments (total of $12.3 million) during the period. 

 
The cash flow forecast to August 2017 is highly dependent upon the achievement of USD iron ore price and AUD:USD 
exchange rate forecasts and the achievement of forecast operating cost and production outcomes.  
 
On 29 August 2016, haulage provider McAleese Limited, a party to the contractor collaboration deed, announced that it 
had entered into voluntary administration and appointed McGrath Nicol as Administrators of the McAleese Group. Based 
on information available to the Company at this time, haulage of ore from its three mining operations will continue as 
normal in the short term whilst the Administrator assesses each business. It is the Director’s expectation that McAleese 
will continue to provide contracted supply services beyond the short term. The Directors have considered the risks 
associated with any potential interruption of supply of haulage services beyond the short term. In such an event they are of 
the view that a reinstatement of the existing fleet or arrangement of alternative supply would be available to enable the 
continued transport of ore to port.  
 
To illustrate the sensitivity to iron ore price, a downward movement in the independent forecasters forward prices of 5% 
would result in a net reduction in forecast working capital and cash of approximately AU$7 million by the end of August 
2017 to forecast working capital of AU$47 million and cash of AU$45 million (assuming no change in the assumed 
US$:AU$ exchange rate). 
 
The Directors believe that the cash flow forecasts are reasonable with respect to all material factors. On this basis the 
going concern basis of preparation has been adopted. The cash flow forecasts are highly sensitive to movements in the 
Australian dollar iron ore price which continue to be depressed in a challenging global iron ore market. A material 
uncertainty relates to the risk of a sustained decline from forecast prices during the forecast period or the production and 
cost assumptions contained in the forecast do not eventuate.  
 
Should the key assumptions of the cash flow forecast not be achieved, the Company may breach the requirements of its 
Term Loan B. The Company may then be required to renegotiate terms with its lenders or source additional funds through 
debt or equity markets. In this regard the Directors would review other funding options, such as unsecured debt, 
convertible notes and offtake agreements with financing elements. The ability to renegotiate terms or access sufficient 
funds in this way represents a material uncertainty. 
 
These material uncertainties related to future events give rise to significant doubt about the ability of the Company to 
continue as a going concern and realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in an orderly manner at the amounts stated 
in the financial report.  
 
(b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Atlas Iron Limited and its subsidiaries 
together with the Group’s share of joint arrangements and associates accounted for as described below. 

 
(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements all intergroup balances and transactions, income, expenses, 
unrealised gains/losses and profit or loss, resulting from intergroup transactions, have been eliminated in full.  

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost of acquisition in the Company’s financial statements. 
 
Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the 
acquisition date. Changes in the Groups’ interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. 
 

(ii) Investment in associates and joint ventures 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally 
the case where the Group has significant voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. 
 
A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. Joint control is defined as the 
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities 
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the 
equity method.  
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s 
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Goodwill relating 
to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested 
for impairment. Dividends received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the 
carrying amount of the investment.  
 
The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 
 
After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on 
its investment in its associate or joint venture. An impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of 
the investment with its carrying amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, and is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. 
 
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and 
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or 
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds 
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(iii) Investment in joint operation 
A joint operation is an arrangement in which the parties with joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the 
liabilities relating to that arrangement. In respect of its interest in a joint operation, a joint operator must recognise all of 
its assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, including its relative share of jointly controlled assets, liabilities, revenue 
and expenses. 
 
(c) Changes in accounting policy 
Atlas has adopted all of the new and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the AASB that are 
relevant to the operations of Atlas and effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015. The Group 
applied for the first time AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Withdrawal of AASB 1031 
Materiality and AASB 2015-4 Financial Reporting Requirements for Australian Groups with a Foreign Parent. However 
these amendments did not impact the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 
(d) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future period affected. The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Ore reserve and resource estimates 
Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of ore that can be economically and legally extracted from the Group’s mining 
properties. The Group estimates its ore reserves based on information compiled by appropriately qualified persons 
relating to the geological judgements to interpret the data. The estimation of recoverable reserves is based upon factors  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

such as estimates of commodity prices, future capital requirements, production costs and foreign exchange rates along 
with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating the size and grade of the ore body. 

The Group estimates and reports ore reserves under the principles contained within the Australasian Code for 
Reporting Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (Revised 2012), known as the JORC Code, which 
is prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia. Changes in the reserve or resource estimates 
may impact upon the carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets, mine properties, property, plant and 
equipment, provision for rehabilitation, and depreciation and amortisation charges. 

Units of production depreciation 
Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and/or amortisation of mine specific assets. 
This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated remaining life of mine 
production. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical life limitations and to present 
assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which the asset is located. These  
calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of recoverable reserves and estimates 
of future capital expenditure. Refer to Note 1(j) for the accounting policy on production stripping. 

Provision for rehabilitation costs 
The Group assesses its mine rehabilitation provision at each reporting date. Significant estimates and assumptions are 
made in determining the provision for mine rehabilitation as there are numerous factors that will affect the ultimate 
liability payable. These factors include estimates of the extent and costs of rehabilitation activities, technological 
changes, regulatory changes, cost increases/decreases and changes in discount rates (2016: 2.55% (2015: 2.55%)). 
Those uncertainties may result in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. The provision 
at balance date represents management’s best estimate of the present value of the future rehabilitation costs required. 
 
Production start date 
The Group assesses the stage of each mine development project to determine when a mine moves into the production 
stage. The criteria used to assess the start date of a mine are determined based on the unique nature of each mine 
development project. The Group considers various relevant criteria to assess when the mine is substantially complete, 
ready for its intended use and moves into the production phase. Some of the criteria include: 

• completion of a reasonable period of testing of the mine plant and equipment; 
• ability to process iron ore in saleable form; and 
• ability to sustain ongoing mining and processing of iron ore. 

 
When a mine development project moves into the production stage, the capitalisation of certain mine development costs 
ceases and costs are either regarded as inventory or expensed, except for costs related to mining asset additions or 
improvements and mineable reserve development, which are capitalised. It is also at this point that 
depreciation/amortisation commences. 
 
Impairment of assets 
The Group assesses each asset or cash generating unit (CGU) at each reporting period to determine whether any 
indication of impairment exists. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is 
made, which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. These assessments 
require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term commodity prices (considering current and historical 
prices, price trends and related factors), discount rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, closure and 
rehabilitation costs, exploration potential, reserves and operating performance (which includes production and sales 
volumes). These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore, there is a possibility that 
changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the recoverable amount of assets and/or 
CGUs. Recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Fair value is 
determined as the amount that would be obtained from the sale of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable and willing parties. Value in use is determined as the present value of estimated future cash flows 
arising from the continued use of the asset. Cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/CGU. The key 
assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs, including a sensitivity analysis, are 
disclosed and further explained in Note 3. 

Deferred taxation 
Deferred income tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

(e) Determination of fair values 
A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial 
and non-financial assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value of an asset or liability, the Group uses market 
observable data as far as possible.  
 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value 
measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by  
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using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use. 
 
Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation 
techniques as follows: 

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly 
• Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability 

 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as 
the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.  
 
The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during 
which the change has occurred. Refer to Note 29. 
 
(f) Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer elects to measure the components of 
non-controlling interest that are present ownership interests that entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value, or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in business combination expenses. When  
the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and 
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date.  
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition date (being the date the acquirer gains control) 
through profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be 
recognised in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement either in profit or loss or 
as change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be 
remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances, where the contingent consideration 
does not fall within the scope of AASB 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate AASB. 
 
Goodwill is included in intangible assets and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the fair value of the identifiable net 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain 
or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative value 
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Where the Group acquires interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business, the acquisition 
method of accounting is adopted. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from 
these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which will be received  
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from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their 
present values in determining recoverable amounts. The cost of plant and equipment constructed within the Group 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable 
overheads that are directly attributable to the construction of plant and equipment.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.  

Depreciation 
Land is not depreciated but is subject to impairment. 

Depreciation of buildings is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net costs over the expected useful 
life. The depreciation rate for buildings is between 5% and 10% per annum. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net costs of each asset 
over the expected useful life or the estimated life of the associated mine, if shorter. The rates vary between 5% and 
40% per annum. 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

(h) Impairment of assets 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that 
asset and that effect can be estimated reliably. 

The Group considers evidence for impairment at the specific asset and collective level of assets with similar risk 
characteristics. An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
asset’s original interest rate. All impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.  

Non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred taxes, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and any intangible assets that have indefinite lives are tested 
annually for impairment. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating unit). 
 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of 
CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then 
to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed that carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 
(i) Exploration and evaluation costs / mining tenements capitalised 
Exploration and evaluation costs on an area of interest are written off in the year they are incurred if there is no 
expectation of commercial viability, apart from acquisition costs, which are carried forward where right of tenure of the 
area of interest is current, and they are expected to be recouped through sale or successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest, or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not 
reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. Evaluation 
expenditure on an area of interest, where commercial viability has been established, is capitalised.  
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Where an area of interest is abandoned, or the Directors decide that it is not commercially viable, any accumulated 
costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each area of interest is also 
reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated costs written off to the extent that they will not be 
recoverable in the future.  
 
Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to development costs once technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of an area of interest is demonstrable. Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment, and any 
impairment loss is recognised, prior to being reclassified. 
 
The carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial 
exploitation, or alternatively sale of the respective area of interest. 
 
Impairment testing of exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility 
and commercial viability or facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when any of the following facts and circumstances exist: 
• The term of exploration license in the specific area of interest has expired during the reporting period or will 

expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed; 
• Substantive expenditure on further exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are 

not budgeted nor planned; 
• Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of 

commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was made to discontinue such activities 
in the specified area; or 

• Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the 
carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful 
development or by sale. 

Where a potential impairment is indicated, an assessment is performed for each CGU which is no larger than the area 
of interest. The Group performs impairment testing in accordance with accounting policy Note 1(h). 

(j) Development costs 
Mine and port development 
Development expenditure relates to costs incurred to access a mineral resource. It represents those costs incurred after 
the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been demonstrated and an 
identified mineral reserve is being prepared for production (but is not yet in production). 
 
Significant factors considered in determining the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project are the 
completion of a feasibility study, the existence of sufficient proven and probable reserves to proceed with development 
and approval by the Board of directors to proceed with development of the project. 
 
Development costs include direct and indirect costs associated with mine infrastructure, pre-production development 
costs, development excavation, project execution costs and other subsurface expenditure pertaining to that area of 
interest. Costs related to surface plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings are accounted for as 
property, plant and equipment. The definition of an area of interest is the area serviced by a given mining operations 
centre. 
 
Overburden and other mine waste materials are often removed during the initial development of a mine in order to 
access the mineral deposit. This activity is referred to as development stripping (i.e. overburden and other waste 
removal). The directly attributable costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) are capitalised as 
development costs. Capitalisation of development stripping costs ceases when commercial production commences. 
 
Development costs are carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until commercial 
production commences. When commercial production commences, carried forward development costs are amortised 
on a units of production basis over the life of economically recoverable reserves of the area of interest. The Group 
assesses future capital costs required to bring existing reserves into production and includes an estimate of these costs 
in the base when calculating amortisation expense. 
 
Development assets are assessed for impairment if an impairment trigger is identified. For the purposes of impairment 
testing, development assets are allocated to CGUs to which the development activity relates.  
 
Production stripping 
Removal of waste material normally continues after commercial production commences and throughout the life of a 
mine. This activity is referred to as production stripping. The costs of production stripping are capitalised. 
 
Where a mine operates several open pits that are regarded as separate operations for the purpose of mine planning, 
production stripping costs are accounted for separately by reference to the ore from each separate pit. If however, the 
pits are highly integrated for the purpose of mine planning, the second and subsequent pits are regarded as extensions 
of the first pit in accounting for stripping costs. The amount of stripping costs deferred is based on the ratio of waste  
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tonnes mined and ore tonnes mined. Amortisation of the production stripping asset takes place on a unit of production 
based on the identified component of the ore body which is mined. An identifiable component is a specific volume of the 
ore body that is made more accessible by the stripping activity. Significant judgement is required to identify and define 
these components, and also to determine the expected volumes (e.g. tonnes) of waste to be stripped and ore to be 
mined in each of these components. The Group assesses future production stripping costs required to bring existing 
reserves into production and includes an estimate of these costs in the base when calculating amortisation expense.  
 

(k) Care and maintenance  
When a mine moves into the care and maintenance stage the costs of maintaining the mine are expensed in the period 
as incurred unless there are future economic benefits for other operating mines.   

 
(l) Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the 
asset, but not the legal ownership, transfer to the Group, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised 
by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property, plant and 
equipment or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. Lease 
payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period. Leased 
assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
recognised in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

(m) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other  
comprehensive income. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current 
tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 

• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled entities to 
the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and 

• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.  
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and 
assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax 
entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 
realised simultaneously. 
 
A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised. 
 
The Group and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a consequence, all 
members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is 
Atlas Iron Limited. 
 
(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial 
position are shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for 
the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(o) Employee benefits 
Employee benefits are expensed in the profit or loss and provisions are made for benefits accumulated as a result of 
employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, long 
service leave and related on-costs such as superannuation, workers compensation and payroll tax. The Group’s 
superannuation is a defined contribution plan under which fixed contributions are made to a superannuation fund with 
no further legal or constructive obligation to pay.  
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A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, 
and the obligation can be measured reliably.  
 
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled 
within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which 
are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting date on corporate 
bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability, are used. 

Share-based payments 
The Group provides benefits to employees (including Executive Directors) of the Group in the form of share-based 
payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled 
transactions’). Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Long-Term Incentive Plan 
(subject to shareholder approval for Executive Directors), the Employee Share Plan and the Salary Sacrifice and 
Matched Share Plan. Information relating to these plans is set out in Note 4. 
 
During previous financial years, key management personnel and selected direct reports were offered performance rights 
and share appreciation rights under the Long-Term Incentive Plan. The fair value of the awards granted is measured 
using a combination of a Black-Scholes option pricing model and a Monte Carlo simulation model, taking into account 
the terms and conditions upon which the awards were granted. Measurement inputs include share price on 
measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted average historic volatility 
adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average expected life of the instruments 
(based on historical experience and general rights holder behaviour), expected dividends, and the risk-free interest rate 
(based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance conditions attached to the transactions are not 
taken into account in determining fair value. 
 
The cost of the equity-settled option transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date 
on which they are granted. The fair value is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transaction is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled 
to the award (‘vesting date’). 
 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects: 

(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
(ii) the number of options and rights that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest.  

This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood 
of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair 
value at grant date. 
 
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, no further expense is recognised. However, if a new 
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the 
cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award. 
 
The Employee Share Plan is administered by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust, which is consolidated in accordance 
with the principals in Note 1(b). 
 
Under the Employee Share Plan, shares issued by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust vest immediately on grant date. 
On this date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. 
 
The Salary Sacrifice and Matched Share Plan allow participants to salary sacrifice certain amounts per annum from 
their pre-tax salary. Atlas will match the salary sacrifice shares on a one for one basis, with shares purchased by the 
Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust.  
 
The matched shares do not vest until the participants have completed a specified service condition, management deem 
that services are to be rendered over a three year period. The participants become unconditionally entitled to the shares 
at the end of the three year period. The employees have no beneficial entitlement to the matched shares until they are 
awarded. 
 
Service vesting conditions (which are non-market conditions) and non-market performance conditions are not 
incorporated into the grant date fair value calculation of the Matched Share Plan, instead they are taken into 
consideration when estimating the number of awards that will vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely to vest 
is reviewed at each balance sheet date up to the vesting date, at which point the estimate is adjusted to reflect the 
actual awards issued. No adjustment is made after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or not exercised.  
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The cumulative expense recognised for the matched share transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects 
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the proportion of the awards that are expected to ultimately vest. 
 
Matched shares are subject to good and bad leaver provisions. Matched shares will be forfeited in regards to bad 
leavers. Bad leavers include; participants that cease to be employed by the Group via voluntary resignation, dismissal 
for cause, fraud, criminal offence or purported dealing. Good leavers include participants that cease to be employed by 
the Group by reason of redundancy, death, incapacitation or any other reason determined by the Board. The expense 
recognised for good leavers is accelerated as the shares vest immediately and are no longer subject to the 3 year 
service condition or trading restrictions. 
 
(p) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group recognises revenue when 
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and 
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably 
measurable until all material contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when persuasive evidence, usually in the 
form of an executed sales agreement, or an arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of risks and 
rewards to the customer, no further work or processing is required by the Group, the quantity and quality of the goods 
has been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably 
assured. This is generally when title passes. The majority of the Group’s sales agreements specify that title passes 
when the product is delivered to the destination specified by the customer, which is typically the vessel on which the 
product will be shipped. In practical terms, revenue is generally recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date 
the commodity is delivered to the shipping agent. These sales agreements also allow for an adjustment to the sales 
price based on a survey of the goods by the customer (an assay for mineral content), therefore recognition of the sales 
revenue is based on the most recently determined estimate of product specifications. Revenue is not reduced for 
royalties and other taxes payable from the Group’s production. 
 
Provisional values are recognised on cargos which are provisionally priced at the date of sale. Adjustments to the sale 
price then occur subsequent to the date of sale based on movements in quoted market prices on which the final price is  
based, with adjustments reflected in sales and trade receivables. The period between provisional invoicing and final 
pricing is typically between 30 and 120 days. The revenue adjustment which is embedded within the provisionally priced 
sale arrangements is measured at fair value and is re-estimated continuously until final pricing is determined. Fair value 
adjustments, estimated by reference to forward market prices, are recognised as an adjustment to revenue.  
 
(q) Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received. 
 
Repurchase and re-issue of ordinary shares (treasury shares)  
Own equity instruments that are re-acquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost including directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of income taxes) and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of Atlas’ own 
equity instruments. Any difference between the consideration received and the carrying amount, if reissued, is 
recognised in the share-based payments reserve. Shares held by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust are disclosed as 
treasury shares and are deducted from contributed equity. 
 
(r) Earnings per share (EPS) 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic EPS is calculated as the profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year, adjusted for any bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.  
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted EPS adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic EPS to take into account the after income tax effect 
of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number 
of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares (share 
options granted to employees). 
 
(s) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of six months or less. 
 
(t) Rehabilitation provision 
The Group records the present value of estimated costs of legal and constructive obligations required to restore 
operating locations in the period in which the obligation is incurred. The nature of these restoration activities includes 
dismantling and removing structures, rehabilitating mines, dismantling operating facilities, closure of plant and waste 
sites and restoration, reclamation and re-vegetation of affected areas. The obligation generally arises when the asset is  
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installed or the ground/environment is disturbed at the production location. When the liability is initially recognised, the 
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing the carrying amount of the related mining assets. Over 
time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in present value based on the discount rates that reflect current 
market assessments and the risks specific to the liability. The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in the  
statement of comprehensive income as a finance cost. Additional disturbances or changes in rehabilitation costs are 
recognised as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and rehabilitation liability when they occur. 
 
(u) Inventories 
Iron ore stockpiles are physically surveyed or estimated and valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and 
costs of selling final product. 
 
Cost is determined by the weighted average method and comprises direct purchase costs and an appropriate portion of 
fixed and variable overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation, incurred in converting materials into finished 
goods. Materials and supplies are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Any provision of obsolescence is 
determined by reference to specific items of stock. A regular review is undertaken to determine the extent of any 
provision for obsolescence. 
 
(v) Assets held for sale 
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is considered 
highly probable that they will be recovered principally through sale rather than continued use. Such assets, or disposal 
groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on 
disposal groups is allocated first to goodwill and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except 
that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets or employee benefits. Impairment losses on 
initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognised in profit or 
loss. Whilst classified as held-for-sale, property, plant and equipment, intangibles and mine development are no longer 
amortised or depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted. 
 
(w) Intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired by the Group, such as port access rights, software and licences that have a finite life are 
recorded at cost or fair value in business combinations less accumulated amortisation or impairment charges.  
Amortisation is charged over the useful life of the finite asset according to consumption of benefits. 
 
(x) Port access prepayments 
Port access prepayments are initially recognised at cost and amortised over the period of the benefits obtained. 
 
(y) Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues 
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other 
components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete 
financial information is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors include items directly attributable to a segment. 
 
Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and equipment, and 
intangible assets other than goodwill. 
 
(z) Finance income and finance costs 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, dividend income, changes in the fair value of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest 
income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  
 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and impairment losses recognised on financial assets. 
 
(aa) Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting 
date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary items is the difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, 
adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at 
the exchange rate at the end of the year. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are 
measured at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was 
determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using 
the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(bb) Financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial assets 
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial 
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Derivative financial assets 
The Group has the following financial assets: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as 
such upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages 
such investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s 
documented risk management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss comprise equity securities that otherwise would have 
been classified as available for sale and embedded derivatives. 
 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated 
as effective hedging instruments. 
 
Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their 
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are initially measured at 
fair value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured with changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as 
financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.  

 
Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses.  
 
Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 
 
(cc) Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not adopted 
The standards and interpretations relevant to Atlas that have not been early adopted are: 
 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2018.  
 
This standard includes requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets resulting 
from the first part of Phase 1 of the project to replace AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. An assessment of the Groups financial assets and liabilities was performed to determine 
whether the change in standard would affect the classification and measurement of financial instruments 
currently held. The new standard is not expected to impact the measurement of Atlas’ financial assets 
and liabilities. Additional disclosure requirements will be incorporated on adoption of the standard. 

 
(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on 

or after 1 July 2018.  
 
The core principle of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is that an entity recognises 
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. An entity 
recognises revenue in accordance with that core principle by applying the following steps:  

(i)  Identify the contract(s) with a customer  
(ii)  Identify the performance obligations in the contract  
(iii) Determine the transaction price  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract  
(v)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation  

 
The Group has completed an assessment of revenue recognition on adoption of this standard and its impact is 
expected to be limited. 

 
(ii) AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests 

in Joint Operations: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. 
 
AASB 2014-3 amends AASB 11 Joint Arrangements to provide guidance on the accounting for 
acquisitions of interests in joint operations in which the activity constitutes a business. The amendments 
require:  

• The acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business, 
as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on business 
combinations accounting in AASB 3 Business Combinations and other Australian 
Accounting Standards except for those principles that conflict with the guidance in AASB 
11 Joint Arrangements; and; 

• The acquirer to disclose the information required by AASB 3 Business Combinations and 
other Australian Accounting Standards for business combinations. 

 
Adoption of this amendment will not result in a material impact on the Group financial statements as 
the amendment is consistent with the Group’s current accounting policy. 

 
(iv)   AASB 2014-4 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation: applicable to 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016. 
 

AASB 116 Property Plant and Equipment and AASB 138 Intangible Assets both establish the 
principle for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits of an asset. The IASB has clarified that the use of revenue-based 
methods to calculate the depreciation of an asset is not appropriate because revenue generated by 
an activity that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of 
the economic benefits embodied in the asset. The amendment also clarified that revenue is 
generally presumed to be an inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in an intangible asset.  

 
Adoption of this standard is expected not to materially impact the financial statements of the Group. 

 
(v)   AASB 16 Leases: applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019. 
 

Under AASB 16 Leases there is no longer a distinction between finance and operating leases as 
previously defined in AASB 117 Leases. Lessees will now bring to account a right-to-use asset and 
lease liability onto the statement of financial position for all leases. This means the vast majority of 
operating leases as defined by the current AASB 117 Leases which currently do not impact the 
statement of financial position will be required to be capitalised once AASB 16 is adopted.  

 
From an income statement perspective operating leases are typically expensed on a straight line 
basis under AASB 117 Leases. The new treatment will result in both a depreciation and interest 
charge impacting on the income statement. Depreciation is likely to be on a straight basis however 
interest is higher in the initial years. This will have the effect of front loading expenses in the income 
statement which will reduce over the life of the lease. AASB 16 Lease is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019 (early application possible if AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers is also adopted early). 

 
The adoption of this new standard is expected to have a significant impact on all components of the Group 
financial statements. The statement of financial position will be impacted as all lessees will be required to bring 
to account a right-to-use asset and lease liability. From a statement of profit or loss perspective currently all 
operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis under AASB 117 Leases however on applying the new 
standard this will increase depreciation and interest charges. Depreciation will be on a straight basis however 
interest charges will be higher in the initial years of the lease. Additional disclosure requirements will be 
incorporated on adoption of the standard. The impact of this new standard where the Group act as lessor is 
expected to be minimal.  

 
(dd) Comparative amounts 

Certain comparative disclosures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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2. OPERATING COSTS 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Mining and processing   (205,826) (224,590) 

Haulage  (184,985) (203,361) 

Port  (110,076) (128,859) 

Shipping   (100,909) (122,411) 

Royalties  (63,143) (55,842) 

Depreciation and amortisation  (82,270) (112,846) 

Inventory write-down  (3,652) (29,769) 

Other operating costs (including contractor profit share)  (23,125) (12,061) 

  (773,986) (889,739) 

 

3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS 
 
The Group assesses whether there are indicators that assets, or groups of assets, may be impaired at each reporting 
date. The following impairment indicators were identified during the year: 

• Volatile US dollar iron ore price, compounded by the volatile Australian dollar exchange rate during the year 
which impacts the feasibility and returns on mines and projects; and  

• The continued gap between the Group’s net asset book value and its market capitalisation. 
 

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made. Atlas has made an 
assessment of the recoverable amount of its assets as at 31 December 2015 and 30 June 2016. 

 
Total impairment losses recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year were as follows:  
 

  2016  2015  

   $’000   $’000  

Disposal group and assets held for sale  -  (13,189) 

Leasehold improvements  -  (2,278) 

Investment in equity accounted investee (port assets)  -  (28,274) 

Other receivables   (4,425) (23,701) 

Mine and reserve development assets  (9,803) (202,266) 

Property, plant and equipment  (4,170) (7,003) 

Mining tenements capitalised  (78,700) (574,253) 

Intangibles (port assets)  -  (68,630) 

Goodwill  -  (60,777) 

Impairment loss   (97,098) (980,371) 

 

Following is a break-down of the impairment loss by asset grouping:  

 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Horizon 1 mining properties  (13,273) (176,951) 

Horizon 2 projects  (79,400) (606,571) 

Goodwill and port assets  -  (179,482) 

Disposal group and assets held for sale  -  (13,189) 

Other  (4,425) (4,178) 

Impairment loss  (97,098) (980,371) 
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3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS (CONTINUED) 
 

Horizon 1 mining properties 

Atlas’ Horizon 1 mining properties relate to the assets and liabilities contained within its current operating mines 
(including the Corunna Downs development). During the year ended 30 June 2016, Atlas recognised an impairment 
loss for its Horizon 1 mining properties of $13,273,000 (property, plant and equipment of $4,170,000 (2015: $7,003,000) 
and mine and reserve development assets of $9,103,000 (2015: $169,948,000)). 

The recoverable amount of the Horizon 1 mining properties was determined using life-of-mine value in use calculations 
based on life-of-mine cash flow projections from Board-approved financial budgets/forecasts and mine plans covering 
the life of the mine based on current reserves. 
 
Key assumptions contained in cash flow projections are based on external sources of information where available, or 
reflect past experience, and include:  

• forecast USD iron ore price and foreign exchange rates (based on the most recent external economic 
forecasters); 

• published reserve statements;  
• operating and capital cost estimates utilising mine plans; 
• inflation applied at 2.5% per annum beyond the period covered by Atlas’ most recent forecasts; and 
• a nominal post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections of 11-13.5% (June 2015: 11%).  

 
A key component of the cash flow projections is the revenue assumptions utilised. A summary of the externally sourced 
forecast USD iron ore price and foreign exchange rate assumption ranges (real, based on external economic 
forecasters) utilised in determining the recoverable amount of its Horizon 1 mining properties are detailed below: 
 

 Assumption 
30 June 2016* 31 December 2015* 

CFR 62% Fe 
$USD/DMT 

  AUD/USD 
CFR 62% Fe 

$USD/DMT 
AUD/USD 

Not later than one year 48 – 53  0.73 – 0.73 39 – 46 0.70 – 0.73 

Later than one year and not later than five years 47 – 65  0.73 – 0.80 50 – 60 0.73 – 0.76 

More than five years 65 – 68  0.80 – 0.81 68 – 76 0.76 – 0.81 

 
* The forecast pricing assumptions do not include the premium that Atlas forecasts to receive on its lump product.  
 
Sensitivity 
 
Horizon 1 mining properties 
The effect of a reasonably possible change as at 30 June 2016, in the following key assumptions, in isolation to each 
other, to the life-of-mine value in use calculations (net present value) of the Horizon 1 mining properties, are detailed 
below: 
 

 Assumption 
Impact on Value  Impairment 

$’000 $’000 

5% reduction in USD iron ore pricing (118,000) 89,000  

10% reduction in USD iron ore pricing (261,000) 232,000  

$5 per tonne increase in AUD operating costs (198,000) 169,000  

100 basis points increase in discount rate (15,000) -  

 
Whilst the impact of each reasonable possible change is shown in isolation, it is possible that a change in one key 
assumption may be offset by a change in another key assumption. 
 
Horizon 2 exploration projects 
Atlas’ Horizon 2 exploration projects relate predominantly to the McPhee Creek and South East Pilbara exploration 
projects. During the year ended 30 June 2016, Atlas recognised an impairment loss for its Horizon 2 exploration 
projects of $79,400,000 (mining tenements capitalised of $78,700,000 (2015: $574,286,000) and reserve development 
assets of $700,000 (2015: $32,285,000).  
 
When considering the fair value less cost to sell basis in determining the recoverable amount of the McPhee Creek 
project the Company has regard to implied valuations per reserve and resource tonnes of comparable projects and 
project cashflows. The group of comparable projects is included in the comparative group where they hold hematite iron 
ore projects at a similar stage and size within the Pilbara to the Group’s. The implied valuations per reserve and 
resource tonne valuations have been calculated using publicly available information and the share price of the relevant 
company at the point of testing. This is considered to be a level three valuation technique within the fair value hierarchy. 
In addition the recoverable amount of the McPhee Creek exploration project area considers the life-of-mine value in use 
calculations using cash flow projections from financial budgets and indicative mine plans covering the life-of-mine. The  
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3. IMPAIRMENT LOSS (CONTINUED) 
 
nominal post-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections was 15%. No impairment loss has been recognised on 
the McPhee Creek project for the year ended 30 June 2016.  
 
The recoverable amount of the undeveloped South East Pilbara exploration project has been determined based on the 
implied valuations per reserve and resource tonnes of comparable projects, consistent with the methodology described 
above. An impairment loss of $70,500,000 has been recognised on the South East Pilbara exploration project. 

 

Non-core tenements 
An impairment loss of $8,900,000 has been recognised in relation to non-core tenements, which do not contain 
sufficient resources for the Company to pursue and have been, or are, in the process of being disposed of or 
surrendered.  
 
Sensitivity 
 
Horizon 2 – McPhee Creek 
The effect of a reasonably possible change as at 30 June 2016, in the following key assumptions, in isolation to each 
other, to the life-of-mine value in use calculations (net present value) of the Horizon 2 – McPhee Creek, are detailed 
below: 
 

 Assumption 
Impact on Value  Impairment 

$’000 $’000 

5% reduction in USD iron ore pricing (40,000) -  

10% reduction in USD iron ore pricing (80,000) 30,000  

$5 per tonne increase in AUD operating costs (65,000) 15,000  

100 basis points increase in discount rate (8,000) -  

 
Whilst the impact of each reasonable possible change is shown in isolation, it is possible that a change in one key 
assumption may be offset by a change in another key assumption. 
 
Horizon 2 – South East Pilbara 
As at 30 June 2016, the effect of a reasonably possible change in the following key assumption, in isolation, to the fair 
value less cost to sell calculations for the Horizon 2 – South East Pilbara are detailed below: 
 

 Assumption 

Impact on Fair 

Value 

$’000 

Impairment 

 

$’000 

10% change in implied valuations per reserve/resource tonne (4,020) 4,020  

 

Other Receivables 
The Company fully impaired a loan receivable from Shaw River Manganese Ltd (Shaw River) totaling $4,425,000. This 
followed Shaw River being placed into voluntary administration on 22 January 2016.  
 

4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
 
Employee and contractors option plan 
The Group has historically provided benefits to its employees (including Directors) and contractors in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby options to acquire ordinary shares were issued as an incentive to improve 
employee and shareholder goal congruence. All options granted during the year had a nil exercise price. The options 
granted to employees have an expiry date of 13 November 2020, and vested on 6 May 2016.  
 
The fair value of the services received in return for the zero priced employee options granted was fair valued using the 
closing share price on the date of employee acceptance of the employee share options. See below for a summary of the 
key terms of the employee share option plan and fair value assumptions. This is considered to be a level one valuation 
technique within the fair value hierarchy. To remain entitled to the employee share options all Atlas employees had to 
remain in employment until date of vest. 
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4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Assumptions Employee Option Plan (Zero Priced) 

Vesting conditions 

The Options will not vest until the first to occur of:  

- 31 December 2017 (the expiry date of the original Term Loan B Facility);  

- the existing Term Loan B is refinanced or restructured to the satisfaction of 

the Board in its absolute discretion; or  

- a Change of Control Event occurs, as that term is defined in the Rules.  

Test date 6 November 2015 

Performance period Earliest vesting period noted above 

Expiry date 13 November 2020 

Share price at grant date (Fair value) 2.7 cents (Closing AGO share price  - 6 November 2015) 

Number of options granted 189,803,513  

 
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share 
of the Group with full dividend and voting rights. 

Set out below are summaries of the options movement during the year: 
 

 

2016 2015 

Number of options Weighted average 
Exercise price 

Number of options Weighted average 
Exercise price 

Outstanding at the 
beginning of the year 

100,000  4.20  11,685,000  2.79  

Granted 189,803,513  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Exercised (92,443,627) 0.00  0.00  0.00  

Cancelled/lapsed (7,632,681) 0.06  (11,585,000) 2.78  

Outstanding at year end 89,827,205  0.00  100,000  4.20  

Exercisable at year end 89,827,205  0.00  100,000  4.20  

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 4.40 years 
(2015: 0.50 years), with an exercise price of nil. The weighted average price of shares at the date of exercising options 
was $0.02 (2015: nil). 
 
Unvested unlisted performance and share appreciation rights under the Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 
No performance rights or share appreciation rights were granted during the year ended 30 June 2016. 

 

During a previous reporting period, on 2 December 2013, Key Management Personnel (KMP) and selected direct 

reports were granted performance rights and share appreciation rights. In 2014, the Board approved the removal of the  

internal Iron Ore Shipping (IOS) target and replaced it with an Earnings Per Share (EPS) target. Both rights are subject 

to a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) hurdle as well as EPS target, with equal weightings for each hurdle.  

No performance rights or share appreciation rights will vest until after an employee receives a vesting notification from 

the Board, advising them in writing the number of Long-Term Incentive (LTI) awards that have vested and the manner in 

which the awards will be settled, that is, cash or shares. Performance rights and share appreciation rights not vested on 

the vesting date (30 June 2016 for LTIP granted on 2 December 2013) will automatically lapse and be forfeited in 

accordance with the LTIP rules. LTI awards that vest to any Executive Director cannot be settled in equity without prior 

shareholder approval. 

 

 Share appreciation rights 
2016  2015  

Number of rights  Number of rights  

Balance at 1 July  4,833,734  7,452,542  

Granted during the year -  -  

Vested during the year -  -  

Forfeited during the year (1,928,391) (2,618,808) 

Balance at 30 June  2,905,343  4,833,734  
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4. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 Performance rights 
2016  2015  

Number of rights  Number of rights  

Balance at 1 July  2,070,984  3,270,047  

Granted during the year -  -  

Vested during the year -  (210,877) 

Forfeited during the year (845,213) (988,186) 

Balance at 30 June  1,225,771  2,070,984  

 

Modifications 

The board permitted Ken Brinsden to retain a pro-rated (based on time and performance) portion of the awards made 

under the LTI plan in 2013. These awards will vest subject to meeting the relevant performance hurdles set for each 

award grant.  

 
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as a part of employee 
benefit expense were as follows: 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions   

Employee share option plan (4,875) -  

Salary Sacrifice and Matched Shares Plan (56) 97  

Performance and share appreciation rights (277) (355) 

Total (5,208) (258) 

 
5. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES  
  

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Salaries and benefits* (8,895) (9,816) 

Corporate expenses (2,055) (2,575) 

Consultancy expenses (3,482) (4,182) 

Building and properties (8,828) (6,966) 

Other expenses  (892) (1,349) 

 (24,152) (24,888) 

* Contributions of $1,565,000 were made during the year (2015: $3,475,000) to defined contribution plans. 

Expenses comprise costs for both corporate activities and shared services. 
 
6. OTHER INCOME 
  

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000   

Rehabilitation provision adjustment 3,888  287  

Fuel tax rebate 1,983  -  

Royalty provision reversal 4,000  -  

Rental Income 2,555  2,450  

 12,426  2,737  
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7. OTHER EXPENSES  
  

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000   

Restructuring costs - onerous lease (2,716) (19,514) 

Restructuring costs - other (1,067) (8,578) 

Total restructuring costs (3,783) (28,092) 

Suspension costs -  (24,711) 

Care and maintenance (1,079) (1,734) 

Business combination expense (239) (3,566) 

Other (2,606) (4,146) 

 (7,707) (62,249) 

 
Atlas has an onerous lease in which the lease payments are expected to exceed the rental income. Refer to Note 20 for 
further details. 
 
8. NET FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSE) 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Interest income 941  4,006  

Interest accretion 175  910  

Finance income 1,116  4,916  

Interest expense – Term Loan B (29,681) (29,626) 

Amortisation of debt establishment costs (3,493) (4,423) 

Other finance expenses (1,969) (2,409) 

Finance expense (35,143) (36,458) 

Net loss on foreign exchange (13,100) (39,339) 

Gain on debt restructure 5,482  -  

Net finance expense (41,645) (70,881) 

 
9. INCOME TAX  
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

The major components of income tax are: 

Deferred income tax: 

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences  -  67,003  

Adjustments in respect to prior year -  -  

Tax expense/(benefit) reported in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income 

-  67,003  
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9. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 

 
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting loss before income tax multiplied by the Group’s 
applicable income tax rate is as follows: 
 

 2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

Accounting loss before income tax (159,014) (1,310,823) 

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%) (47,704) (393,247) 

Other non-deductible 1,531  1,789  

Equity accounting for share of loss of associates and joint ventures 32  1,076  

Adjustment in respect of prior year -  -  

Impairment:   

- Goodwill -  18,233  

- Tenements -  6,454  

- Equity accounted investments -  15,608  

Gain on debt restructure (8,281) -  

Temporary differences not brought to account 54,422  121,388  

Prior years losses derecognised -  295,702  

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

-  67,003  

 
2016 

Deferred income tax Statement of financial position 

2015  Recognised in  2016  

$’000  profit or loss $’000  

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:    

CONSOLIDATED   

Deferred income tax liabilities (DTL)/Deferred income tax assets (DTA)   

Mining tenements capitalised 26,569  23,605  50,174  

Mine development costs (6,195) (16,887) (23,082) 

Prepayments and accruals 1,867  (1,867) -  

Other assets 1,114  6,383  7,497  

Cash and interest bearing loans 28,361  (27,828) 533  

Plant and equipment (12,181) 10,476  (1,705) 

Reserve improvement (5,142) (1,260) (6,402) 

Provisions 29,815  6,449  36,264  

Employee benefits 701  (97) 604  

Carried forward tax losses 416,026  29,461  445,487  

 480,935  28,435  509,370  

Less deferred tax assets not recognised (480,935) (28,435) (509,370) 

 -  -  -  
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9. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 
 
2015 

Deferred income tax Statement of financial position 

2014  Recognised in  2015  

$’000  profit or loss $’000  

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:    

CONSOLIDATED   

Deferred income tax liabilities (DTL)/Deferred income tax assets (DTA)   

Port access rights (20,721) 20,721  -  

Mining tenements capitalised (143,568) 170,137  26,569  

Mine development costs (84,575) 78,380  (6,195) 

Prepayments and accruals 1,550  317  1,867  

Other assets 4,404  (3,290) 1,114  

Cash and interest bearing loans (1,437) 29,798  28,361  

Plant and equipment 2,121  (14,302) (12,181) 

Reserve improvement (9,886) 4,744  (5,142) 

Provisions 21,947  7,868  29,815  

Employee benefits 1,466  (765) 701  

Carried forward tax losses 359,547  56,479  416,026  

 130,848  350,087  480,935  

Less deferred tax assets not recognised (63,845) (417,090) (480,935) 

 67,003  (67,003) -  

 

The above disclosures have been prepared based on the tax consolidated group. 

 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 

 2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

Temporary differences 63,883  18,638  

Tax losses 442,944  459,948  

Capital losses 2,543  2,349  

 509,370  480,935  

 
10. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED 
 
Declared and paid during the year: 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Dividends paid on ordinary shares: 

Final unfranked dividend for 2014: 2.0 cents per share paid on 6 October 2014. -  18,314  

Dividends declared on ordinary shares:   

Final unfranked dividend for 2016: nil (2015: nil) -  -  

 
The dividend franking account has a nil balance as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil).  
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

 
* There are no trade receivables past due but not impaired (2015: nil). 
** Provisional pricing receivable relates to amounts receivable on provisionally priced commodity sales contracts that are yet to be 
settled. These contracts may be settled with provisionally priced payables.   
*** Security deposits represent cash backing for office bonds, bank guarantee and a credit card facility. 
 

The Company has bank guarantees predominantly related to security deposits representing cash backing for office 
bonds, bank guarantees and a credit card facility. The total bank guarantees on issue at period end are $10,336,000 
(2015: $10,357,000). 
 

12. PREPAYMENTS 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Current 13,368  15,239  

Non-current -  6,875  

 13,368  22,114  

 
In the 2012 financial year the Group entered into a long-term infrastructure sharing agreement for Wodgina operations. 
As part of this arrangement the Group contributed a total of $59,730,000. An expense of $10,313,000 was recognised 
during the current financial year (2015: $9,282,000). Disclosed within Prepayments – Current is the amount expected to 
be recouped within the next 12 months, being $6,875,000 (2015: $10,313,000). The remaining prepayment balance 
consists primarily of amounts paid in advance to certain contractors for services to be rendered in July.  
 
13. INVENTORIES 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Consumables – at cost 179  708  

Work in progress – at cost 6,904  5,790  

Finished goods – at cost 9,645  9,106  

 16,728  15,604  

 
Write-downs of inventories to net realisable value recognised as an expense during the year ended 30 June 2016 
amounted to $3,652,000 (2015: $29,769,000). The expense has been included in operating costs in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Refer Note 2).  
 
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

  2016  2015  

 Notes $’000  $’000  

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Current   

Trade receivables* 5,804  12,182  

Provisional pricing** 24,793  8,873  

Security deposits*** 5,912  2,918  

 36,509  23,973  

Non–current   

Security deposits*** 4,656  7,795  

Loan receivable from joint arrangements (Note 27(b)) 373  116  

Other -  4,097  

 5,029  12,008  

At cost  165,652  182,625  

Accumulated depreciation  (69,073) (53,549) 

 14(a) 96,579  129,076  
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of 
the current financial year. 

 
15. MINE DEVELOPMENT COSTS 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

At cost  774,253  756,160  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (476,593) (417,938) 

  297,660  338,222  

Mine development cost breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  338,222  515,157  

Additions*  7,948  67,604  

Reassessment of rehabilitation asset  (1,965) 8,885  

Transfers from property, plant and equipment  21,213  -  

Impairment (Note 3)  (9,103) (164,995) 

Amortisation expense  (58,655) (88,429) 

Carrying amount at end  297,660  338,222  

 

* Prior period includes 30% acquisition of Altura’s portion of the Mt Webber joint operation. 

  

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Property   

Carrying amount at beginning  62,908  13,946  

Transfers  (37,627) 45,791  

Additions    

- Buildings  2,395  11,128  

Impairment (Note 3)  (1,020) (3,113) 

Disposal  (145) (3,014) 

Depreciation expense  (3,900) (1,830) 

Carrying amount at end  22,611  62,908  

Plant and equipment    

Carrying amount at beginning  65,580  129,897  

Transfers  16,985  (46,108) 

Additions  6,193  3,710  

Disposals  (34) (337) 

Depreciation expense  (11,624) (15,414) 

Impairment (Note 3)  (3,149) (6,168) 

Carrying amount at end  73,951  65,580  

Assets under construction    

Carrying amount at beginning  588  -  

Transfers  (571) 18  

Additions  -  570  

Carrying amount at end  17  588  

Total  96,579  129,076  
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16. EVALUATION EXPENDITURE – RESERVE DEVELOPMENT 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Evaluation expenditure – reserve development  21,340  17,140  

Evaluation expenditure – reserve development breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  17,140  49,615  

Additions   4,900  4,796  

Impairment (Note 3)  (700) (37,271) 

Carrying amount at end  21,340  17,140  

 
The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective mining areas.  
 
17. MINING TENEMENTS 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Tenement acquisition costs  62,594  141,414  

Tenement acquisition cost breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning  141,414  716,874  

Other acquisition   250  363  

Disposals  (370) (1,310) 

Impairment (Note 3)  (78,700) (574,253) 

Transfers to assets held for sale  -  (260) 

Carrying amount at end  62,594  141,414  

 
18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Current    

Trade payables*   13,314  30,890  

Accrued expenses  22,124  52,294  

Royalty payable  13,804  5,541  

Royalty assistance program  12,292  -  

Provisional pricing and rebates payable**  2,566  20,322  

Other payables   246  1,272  

   64,346  110,319  

Non-current    

Royalty assistance program  3,073  -  

Other payables and accruals  3,749  4,000  

  6,822  4,000  

 
*   Trade payables are normally settled on a 30-day basis except for key contractors, who are settled in the month of service. 
** Provisional pricing payable relates to amounts payable on provisionally priced commodity sales contracts that are yet to be settled. 

These contracts may be settled with provisionally priced receivable.  

 
Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing. 
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19. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Current    

Secured debt facility  2,697  3,581  

Finance Lease  935  -  

  3,632  3,581  

Non-current    

Secured debt facility  179,475  345,540  

Finance Lease  6,241  -  

Borrowing costs  -  (9,601) 

  185,716  335,939  

Secured Debt Facility 
On 10 December 2012, Atlas entered into a Term Loan B facility of US$275,000,000 which was fully drawn. The term of 
the facility was 5 years with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 7.50% (LIBOR floor of 1.25%). The facility was secured over 
all assets of Atlas and each material subsidiary subject to agreed exceptions and in some certain circumstances, to 
obtaining third party consents. The facility had no earnings or net asset based maintenance covenants, but had an 
asset coverage covenant of 2:1 (Total Assets to Total Liabilities). 
 
On 6 May 2016, Atlas completed a creditors' scheme of arrangement which implemented a restructure of the Term 
Loan B facility. The principal amount owing on the Loan was reduced to US$135,000,000 from US$267,000,000. For 
this reduction in the Loan, Atlas paid down US$10M and on completion issued to the Lenders 6,229,503,087 fully paid 
ordinary shared and 4,513,986,260 Options exercisable at $0.075. The term of the facility is 5 years (maturing April 
2021) with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.33% (LIBOR floor of 1.25%) paid monthly plus Paid in Kind interest 
(capitalised monthly) of 3.00%. Atlas is required to maintain a minimum AU$35,000,000 in cash at the end of each 
month. A 100% cash sweep pay down has been introduced for any cash in excess of AU$80,000,000 at the end of each 
quarter. Atlas is in compliance with all covenant requirements as at 30 June 2016. The facility continues to be repaid at 
1% per annum and then the remainder paid out on maturity. The facility remains secured over all assets of Atlas and 
each material subsidiary subject to agreed exceptions and in some certain circumstances, to obtaining third party 
consent. 
 
The Company established a fair value of the shares and options issued of AU$133,627,000. The fair value of the shares 
was measured using the Atlas share price on the date of the completed restructure (6 May 2016: $0.02). This is 
considered to be level one on valuation technique within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the options issued 
was measured using a Black-Scholes model, with the following inputs: 

Assumptions Debt Restructure options 

Options granted 4,513,986,260 

Expiry Date 31 July 2017 

Test date 6 May 2016 

Exercise price 7.5 cents 

Share price at grant date  2.0 cents  

Remaining life 1.08 years 

Risk free rate 2.0% 

Volatility 100% 

Fair value on grant date 0.2 cents  

Valuation hierarchy Level 2 

 
As required by accounting standards under IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments a gain of 
$5,482,000 was recognised in the income statement as the differences between the carrying value of the borrowings 
converted and the fair value of the equity issued. Establishment fees paid in relation to the facility have been fully 
amortised as part of the gain on restructure of the Term Loan B.  
 
On 10 December 2012, Atlas also put in place an AU$50,000,000 three-year revolving facility. This facility expired on 9 
December 2015 undrawn. 
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19. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

Finance Lease 
During the year, the Group entered into an arrangement whereby a supplier built a laboratory (buildings and equipment) 
which will be operated by the supplier under a finance lease agreement. On commencement the term of the lease was 7 
years and the Company has recognised finance lease interest charges of AU$610,000 (2015: nil). 
 

 Facility 

2016 2015 

Available funds 
$’000  

Amount drawn 
$’000  

Available funds 
$’000  

Amount drawn 
$’000  

Term Loan B facility* 182,172  182,172  349,121  349,121  

Three year revolving facility -  -  50,000  -  

Finance Lease 7,176  7,176  -  -  

Balance at end of year 189,348  189,348  399,121  349,121  

 
* Facilities are denominated in USD and shown per their AUD equivalent in the table. 

 
20. PROVISIONS 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Current    

Rehabilitation and demobilisation  3,141  3,062  

Onerous lease  3,444  3,135  

Other  3,017  1,017  

  9,602  7,214  

Non-current    

Rehabilitation and demobilisation  63,010  68,531  

Onerous lease  25,810  22,878  

  88,820  91,409  

Provisions breakdown:    

Carrying amount at beginning   98,623  70,718  

Provisions made during the year  2,487  34,556  

Provisions used during the year  (3,535) (7,992) 

Unwind of discount  847  1,341  

Carrying amount at end   98,422  98,623  

 
Rehabilitation provision 
When developing its mines, the Group makes provision for the future cost of rehabilitating mine sites on a discounted 
basis. This provision represents the present value of rehabilitation costs relating to the mine sites, which are expected to 
be incurred through the life of mine. These provisions have been determined in conjunction with the work undertaken by 
external consultants. Assumptions based on the current economic environment have been made in determining current 
rehabilitation provisions, which management believes are a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the future liability. 
These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date to take into account any material changes to the assumptions. 
However, actual rehabilitation costs will ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning 
works required, which will reflect market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of rehabilitation is likely 
to depend on when the mines cease to produce at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend upon future iron 
ore prices, which are inherently uncertain. 
 
Onerous lease 
In 2012, the Group entered into a non-cancellable lease for office space which will expire in 2024. Due to changes in 
requirements, a portion of the office space is sublet to a third party for part of the remaining lease term but changes in 
market conditions have meant that the rental income will be lower than the rental expense. In addition, a portion of the 
remaining office space is surplus to current requirements and the Group is actively looking to sublet this space. The 
obligation for the discounted future payments, net of expected rental income, has been provided for by the Group.  
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21. ISSUED CAPITAL, RESERVES, ACCUMULATED PROFIT/(LOSS) AND OTHER EQUITY 
 
(a) Issued and paid up capital 

 

Notes 

2016  2015 

 
Number 

of shares ‘000 
$’000 

Number 
of shares ‘000 

$’000 

(i) share capital  

Ordinary shares fully paid 21(b) 8,995,754  2,197,388 919,045 1,991,630 

 8,995,754  2,197,388 919,045 1,991,630 

 
 
(b) Movements in share capital and other equity securities 

 

 
2016 2015 

 
Number 

of shares ‘000 
$’000 

Number 
of shares ‘000

$’000  

Beginning of the financial year 919,045  1,991,630  915,161  1,989,359  

Issued during the year:     

- Ordinary shares issued through employee share 
scheme 

92,444  2,496  -  -  

- Ordinary shares issued for cash (net of transaction 
costs) 

1,078,440  44,630  -  -  

- Ordinary shares issued through contractor 
collaboration agreement 

666,322  33,963  -  -  

- Ordinary shares issued through debt restructure 6,229,503  124,354  -  -  

- Ordinary shares issued through tenement acquisition 9,960  250  -  -  

- Ordinary shares issued upon vesting of performance 
rights 

-  -  205  129  

- Treasury shares 40  65  (95) 56  

- Ordinary shares issued through dividend reinvestment        
plan 

-  -  3,774  2,086  

End of the financial year 8,995,754  2,197,388  919,045  1,991,630  

 
On the back of establishing the contractor collaboration model the Company issued a prospectus in June 2015 and 
during the period completed a successful capital raising. By the 24th of July 2015, the Company had received 
applications for $87 million from existing shareholders, contractors and new investors. The Company issued 
1,744,762,043 fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.05 per share on 24 July 2015. In addition, 
1,774,762,043 free listed options were issued to subscribing parties, which are exercisable at $0.075 per share and 
expire on 30 June 2017.  
 
On 23 December 2015, the Company announced that it had entered a Restructuring Support Agreement (RSA) with 
more than 75% of the Term Loan B lenders and an amendment to its existing Syndicated Facility Agreement whereby 
the Company agreed to, among other things, pay down US$10 million and issue shares and options to the Term Loan B 
lenders in exchange for the lenders retiring US$122 million of the TLB debt. On the 6 May 2016, the Company 
completed implementation of the Creditors’ Scheme and issued to the Term Loan B Lenders 6,229,503,087 fully paid 
ordinary shares at $0.02 and 4,513,986,260 Options exercisable at $0.075 on or before 31 July 2017. Refer to Note 19 
for further details on the debt restructure.  
 
(c) Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Group in proportion 
to the number of, and amounts paid on the shares held. There are no restrictions attached to this class of share. 
 
On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote 
and upon a poll, each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
All issued shares are fully paid. The Group does not have any par value in respect of its issued shares. 
 
(d) Reserves 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Share-based payments reserve  42,030 30,045  

Associates’ reserve  -  (363) 

Total reserves  42,030 29,682  

 
Refer to statement of changes in equity for details of movements. 
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21. ISSUED CAPITAL, RESERVES, ACCUMULATED PROFIT/(LOSS) AND OTHER EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Number of 

Listed Options 
Number of 

Unlisted Options 

 $    

Balance at the beginning of the period 4.20  -  100,000  

Options granted 0.07  6,258,748,303  189,803,513  

Options exercised 0.00  -  (92,443,627) 

Options forfeited 0.00  -  (7,532,681) 

Options expired 4.20  -  (100,000) 

Total number of options outstanding as at 30 June 
2016 

0.07  6,258,748,303  89,827,205  

 
(e) Nature and purpose of reserves 
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise: 

(i) the grant date fair value of options issued but not exercised 
(ii) the difference between the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees less the issue of shares 

held by the Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust. 
 
The associates’ reserve mainly recognises Atlas’ share of the foreign currency translation reserve belonging to the 
associates. 
 
(f) Other Equity 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Shares to be issued  -   10,086   

 
On 25 June 2015, Atlas obtained shareholder approval for the issue of contractor shares and any contractor options, in 
accordance with the conditions to the offer disclosed in the Prospectus dated 11 June 2015. The shares to be issued at 
30 June 2015 were issued on 24 July 2015. 
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22. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
(a) Reconciliation of the loss after income tax to the net cash flows from operations 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Net loss  (159,014) (1,377,826) 

Non-cash items    

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  85,033  117,794  

Share-based payment expense/(income)  5,249  (258) 

Impairment loss  97,098  980,371  

Inventory write-down  3,652  29,769  

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  349  1,071  

Net foreign exchange loss  13,100  39,339  

Amortisation of debt establishment costs  3,493  4,423  

Net interest expense/(income) - other  1,460  (1,977) 

Interest expense on borrowing facilities  30,180  30,750  

Business combination expense  239  3,566  

Gain/(loss) on financial instruments  5,863  (7,276) 

Share of loss of equity accounted investees  106  3,587  

Change in fair value of financial assets  -  687  

Gain on debt restructure  (5,482) -  

Restructuring costs – onerous lease  2,579  19,514  

BGC settlement  -  20,842  

Rehabilitation provision adjustment  (3,251) -  

Tax expense  -  67,003  

Other  (5,444) (936) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (10,350) 25,888  

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (328) 4,108  

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (6,323) 23,886  

Decrease in trade and other payables  (30,133) (49,541) 

Decrease in employee entitlements  (321) (3,083) 

Increase in provisions  3,350  1,212  

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  31,105  (67,087) 

 
 
(b) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprises: 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Cash at bank and in hand  80,853  73,305  

Short term deposits  -  -  

Closing cash and cash equivalents balance  80,853  73,305  

 
Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term deposits are 
made for varying periods, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the 
respective short term deposit rates. 
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22. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities 
The Company through a non-cash financing activity completed a debt to equity conversion which saw the Term Loan B 
reduced to US$135,000,000 in exchange for 6,229,503,087 fully paid ordinary shares and 4,513,986,260 options 
exercisable at 7.5 cents (AUD) on or before 31 July 2017 issued to the lenders. The maturity date of this reduced debt 
has been extended from December 2017 until April 2021. Refer to Note 19 for further details on the debt to equity swap. 
The Company via a non-cash investing activity completed an asset acquisition of a laboratory building and equipment by 
means of a finance lease.  
 
During the prior year, Atlas through a non-cash investing activity gained 100% ownership of the Mt Webber mine joint 
operation as a result of debt forgiveness. There were no other non-cash financing and investing activities for the year 
ending 30 June 2016 (2015: nil). 
 
23. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
(a) Exploration lease commitments 
The Group has certain commitments to meet minimum expenditure requirements on the mineral exploration assets it 
has an interest in. 
 
Outstanding exploration commitments are as follows: 
 

 
2016  2015  

$’000  $’000  

Not later than one year 5,822  4,917  

Later than one year and not later than five years 19,272  17,689  

More than five years 51,358  47,260  

 

 
76,452  69,866  

 
(b) Contractual commitments 
 

 
2016  2015  

$’000  $’000  

Other   

Not later than one year 28,370  59,842  

 

 
28,370  59,842  

 
The Group has entered into operational contracts that are cancellable, in which case a minimum commitment applies. 
These mainly relate to mining, crushing and hauling contracts.  
 
(c) Lease expenditure commitments 
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee 
Operating leases (non-cancellable): Minimum lease payments 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Not later than one year  8,336  10,274  

Later than one year and not later than five years  31,306  31,938  

More than five years  23,469  33,221  

Aggregate expenditure contracted for at reporting date  63,111  75,433  

 
 
The Group has entered into leases for office and accommodation buildings, motor vehicles, office equipment and port 
handling facilities. 
 
During the year, an expense of $9,962,000 was recognised in profit or (loss) in respect of operating leases (2015: 
$10,691,000). 
  



 

 

 

 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT 61 

23. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Operating lease commitments – Group as lessor 
Operating leases (non-cancellable): Minimum lease payments 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Not later than one year  1,494  2,157  

Later than one year and not later than five years  3,029  4,513  

Aggregate expenditure contracted for at reporting date  4,523  6,670  

 
A number of leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge on a bi-annual basis according to 
prevailing market conditions. Refer to Note 20 for onerous lease discussion.  
 
(d) Guarantees 
No guarantees were provided in the financial year.  

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
On 28 June 2016, Mr Flanagan resigned as Managing Director, and finished with the Company on 5 August 2016. Non-
Executive Director, Mr Harris, has been appointed as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer and will continue in 
this role until a permanent replacement is appointed and commences employment with the Company. Thereafter, Mr 
Harris will revert to being a Non-Executive Director of the Company.  
 
On 29 August 2016, haulage provider McAleese Limited announced that it had entered into voluntary administration (Refer 
to Note 1(a)) and appointed McGrath Nicol as administrators of the McAleese Group.  
 
No other matters have arisen since 30 June 2016, which have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial 
years.  
 
25. LOSS PER SHARE 
 
(a) Reconciliation of earnings to (loss) or profit   

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Net loss   (159,014) (1,377,826) 

Loss used in calculating basic loss per share   (159,014) (1,377,826) 

 
(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic 

loss per share 

  2016 2015 

 Number of shares Number of shares 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic loss 
per share 3,508,760,155 918,035,916 

 
Effect of dilutive securities: 
Atlas’ potential ordinary shares at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015, being its options and rights granted, are not 
considered dilutive as the conversion of these options and rights would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.  
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26. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
 
 

 2016  2015  

 
 $  $  

Audit or review of the financial report of the Group  245,000  277,500  

Audit and review services  245,000  277,500  

Investigating accountant’s report - Prospectus  4,300  400,944  

Accounting advisory services  -  31,900  

Contractor Collaboration Model – Agreed upon procedures  24,500  -  

Royalty Assistance Program – Agreed upon procedures  21,500  -  

Other services provided to the Group  -  24,500  

Other services  50,300  457,344  

  295,300  734,844  

 
27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

The financial statements include the financial statements for the Group and the subsidiaries listed in Note 30.  
 
(a) Key management personnel and Director related transactions 
Sook Yee Tai, a Non-Executive Director of the Group (resigned effective 12 November 2015) was also the Managing 
Director of IMC Industrial Group (resigned 18 December 2015). During the period, the Group sold iron ore to IMC 
Resources (China) Ltd, a subsidiary of IMC Industrial Group to the value of US$4,732,791 net CFR (2015: 
US$4,065,000). As at 30 June 2016, the Group received all payments for shipments. Oriental Bulk Shipping Pte Ltd, a 
subsidiary of IMC Industrial Group, provided freight services to the Group. The total cost for services provided was 
US$973,145 (2015: US$1,534,000) none of which was outstanding as at 30 June 2016 (2015: nil).  

(i) Compensation of key management personnel by category 
The information regarding individual Directors and Executives compensation required by Corporations Regulation 
2M.3.03 is provided in the remuneration section of the Directors’ Report. 
 

  2016  2015  

  $’000  $’000  

Short term  2,896  3,020  

Long term  164  64  

Post-employment  1,005  548  

Share-based payment  1,682  (273) 

  5,747  3,359  

 
(ii) Loans to key management personnel 

There were no loans provided to key management personnel during the year. 
There were no related party transactions between key management personnel and the Group, other than those related 
to compensation, which has been disclosed above. 

(b) Investments in other entities 

Name of related party 

Ownership 
interest 

Loans to related 
parties  

Other related party 
transactions2 

%    $’000  $’000 

NWI Pty Limited 2016 63.00  373  -  

 2015 63.00  116  (199) 

Centaurus Metals Limited1  2016 9.14  -  -  

 2015 20.48  -  (250) 
 

1 As a result of the Group’s diluted interest in Centaurus Metals Limited, the Group ceased equity accounting for CTM as an associate. 
2 Negative is an expense or outflow and positive is income or inflow. 

 
NWI Pty Limited 
Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash except for loans 

described below. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables. As 

at 30 June 2016, the Group has a loan receivable from NWI Pty Limited of $24,074,000 (2015: $23,817,000). An  
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27. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 

impairment of $23,701,000 recorded in year ended 30 June 2015 reduces the carrying value to $373,000 (2015: 

$116,000). 

Centaurus Metals Limited 
During the period, Centaurus Metals Limited (CTM) issued shares, diluting the Group’s interest from 20.48% to 9.14%. 
As the Group was deemed to have lost significant influence, Atlas ceased equity accounting for CTM as an associate 
and commenced accounting for the retained interest at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
28. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
Segment products and locations 
The Group operates in the mineral exploration and extraction industry in Australia. For management purposes, the 
Group is organised into one main operating segment which involves the exploration and extraction of minerals in 
Australia. All of the Group’s activities are interrelated and discrete financial information is reported to the Board of 
Directors (Chief Operating Decision Maker) as a single segment. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are 
based upon analysis of the Group as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the 
financial statements of the Group as a whole. 
 
29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES 
 
Financial risk management 
The Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. These risks arise in the normal course of 
business and are managed in accordance with the Group’s Financial Risk Management Policy. The Board of Directors 
has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework and has delegated the 
authority for monitoring risk management policies to the Audit and Risk Committee. 
 
The Group’s Treasury function reports to the Board and Audit and Risk Committee and provides assurance that the 
Group’s financial activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, 
measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives. It is the Group’s policy that no 
trading in derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken, however derivative positions may be utilised to 
manage the Group’s financial risks. The Group’s Financial Risk Management Policy does not allow the Group to enter 
into any sold option positions. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
The following table shows the fair value of financial assets including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. The Group 
has not disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term trade receivables, payables and interest 
bearing loans, because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair values. 
 

 2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

Financial Assets & Liabilities    

Level 1*    

  Financial assets classified as held for trading  422  -  

Level 2**    

  Net Financial instruments – iron ore derivatives  (1,157) 604  

  (735) 604  

*  Level 1 denotes: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets. 
** Level 2 denotes: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either directly (as prices) 

or indirectly (derived from prices). 

 
Financial risks 
The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 
commodity price risk) and operational risk. 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and receivables from customers. 
 

To manage credit risk, the Group maintains policies governing credit approvals and investment counterparties.  
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the characteristics of its customers. The majority of the Group’s 
sales revenue arises from customers based in China and the Group has mitigated the risk of financial loss by 
undertaking trade finance through letters of credit. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Group’s policies limit its exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents by investing and transacting 
with banks that hold minimum investment credit ratings of A-1, where exposure to an individual counterparty with this 
rating is limited to 20% of the total portfolio. Where an investment credit rating is above A-1, exposure is limited to 33% 
of the total portfolio. The Company is currently in compliance with these limits. Certain different limits apply with respect 
to potential counterparties for commodity hedging transactions. Refer to commodity price risk below. 
 
Exposure to credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets: 
 

Notes  
2016  2015  

$’000  $’000  

Cash and cash equivalents 22(b) 80,853  73,305  

Trade and other receivables* 11 41,538  35,981  

  
122,391  109,286  

*  Includes trade receivables past due but not impaired of nil (2015: nil). Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no  
   impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables past due. 

 
No impairment losses have been recognised during the year as a result of credit risk. 
 

Liquidity risk 
The Group’s liquidity risk arises from the possibility that it will not be able to meet financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Group manages its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows to ensure that it maintains 
sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. The Group prepares detailed 
financial models as part of its budget planning and forecasting processes, which are used to predict liquidity needs to 
support the Group’s funding requirements. 
 
The expected maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the reporting date, based on contractual amounts 
including estimated interest payments, is as follows: 
 

30 June 2016 
 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6 - 12 
months 

1 - 2  
years 

2 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Interest bearing loan 182,172  (290,231) (9,683) (8,864) (18,134) (253,550) - 

Finance Lease 7,176  (9,279) (763) (763) (1,525) (4,576) (1,652) 

Trade and other 
payables 

71,168  (71,168) (49,928) (14,418) (6,822) -  - 

 260,516  (370,678) (60,374) (24,044) (26,481) (258,126) (1,652) 

 

30 June 2015 
 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6 - 12 
months 

1 - 2  
years 

2 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

Interest bearing loan 349,121  (424,293) (17,300) (17,219) (34,116) (355,658) - 

Trade and other payables 114,319  (116,126) (106,319) (546) (1,210) (4,051) - 

 463,440  (540,419) (123,619) (17,765) (35,326) (359,709) - 

 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, including foreign exchange rates, commodity price and interest 
rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to 
fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign currency and interest rates.  
 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters 
while optimising return. 
 
To date, the Group has not adopted hedge accounting. 
 

Commodity price risk 
Commodity price risk arises from fluctuations in market prices of iron ore. As part of the contractor collaboration 
arrangements, Atlas has sought to establish strategies that mitigate its exposure to iron ore price volatility in the short-
term. The strategy of ultilising fixed priced sales contracts, cap/collar positions and option positions is aimed at providing  
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
some protection against decreases in the US dollar iron ore price while maintaining some exposure to pricing upside. At 
30 June 2016, the Group had approximately 1.5 million WMT subject to these contracts and positions at a range of 
US$40 to US$61 62% Fe price CFR/DMT China. 
 
The Group has entered into provisionally priced commodity sales contracts. These are provisionally priced sales 
volumes for which price finalisation is referenced to the relevant index at a future date. Provisional pricing mechanisms 
embedded within these sales arrangements have the character of a commodity derivative and are carried at fair value.  
 
The Group’s exposure at 30 June 2016 to the impact of movements in commodity prices upon provisionally invoiced 
sales volumes is set out in the following table. 
 
Impact on profit or loss before tax of a 10% increase in market price 
 

 
 

2016 2015  

 $’000 $’000  

Iron Ore (1,179) -   

 
The sensitivities in the above tables have been determined as the absolute impact on fair value of a 10% increase in 
commodity prices at each reporting date, while holding all other variables, including foreign currency and exchange 
rates, constant. 
 
The relationship between commodity prices and exchange rates is complex and movements in exchange rates can 
impact commodity prices. The sensitivities should therefore be used with care. 
 
The Group's policies allow iron ore commodity risk trades (e.g. swaps) with counterparties of credit ratings A – (A 
minus) which is lower than for foreign exchange trades and short term investments, recognising the nature of the 
counterparties which regularly participate in the iron ore swap markets. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases which are denominated in currencies other than 
the Group’s functional currency. The Group’s sales are denominated in US dollars and approximately 13% (2015: 14%) 
of its operating costs are also denominated in US dollars. To hedge exposure to foreign exchange movements, the 
Group may enter into spot and forward foreign exchange contracts or foreign exchange options as required. There are 
no contracts outstanding at 30 June 2016 or at 30 June 2015. 
 
Additionally the Group holds US dollar denominated debt and the Group holds a portion of cash in USD to satisfy its risk 
management objectives.  
 
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows, based on notional amounts and the 
AUD equivalent: 
 

30 June 2016 Notes 
AUD  USD  Total  

$’000  $’000  $’000  

Cash and cash equivalents 22(b) 8,705  72,148  80,853  

Trade and other receivables 11 16,741  24,797  41,538  

Trade and other payables 18 (63,809) (7,359) (71,168) 

Interest bearing loan 19 (7,176) (182,172) (189,348) 

  (45,539) (92,586) (138,125) 

 

30 June 2015 Notes 
AUD  USD  Total  

$’000  $’000  $’000  

Cash and cash equivalents 22(b) 21,323  51,982  73,305  

Trade and other receivables 11 20,016  15,965  35,981  

Trade and other payables 18 (91,136) (23,183) (114,319) 

Interest bearing loan 19 -  (349,121) (349,121) 

  (49,797) (304,357) (354,154) 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The following exchange rates applied during the financial year: 
 

 Average rate Reporting date spot rate 

 2016 2015 2016 2015 

US$ 0.7283 0.8382 0.7426 0.7680 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
A 5% fluctuation of the Australian dollar against the US dollar at 30 June 2016 would have increased/(decreased) 
equity and profit or (loss) by the amounts shown below. The analysis assumes that all other variables, including 
interest rates remain constant. 
 

 
 Strengthening Weakening 

  Equity Profit or (loss) Equity Profit or (loss) 

  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

30 June 2016      

+/-5%  -  4,409  -  (4,873) 

 
 

-  4,409  -  (4,873) 

30 June 2015      

+/-5%  -  14,493  -  (16,019) 

 
 

 -  14,493  -  (16,019) 

 
Interest rate risk 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on borrowing and investments from the possibility that changes in interest 
rates will affect future cash flows. The Group does not manage its exposure to movements in market interest rates. The 
Group adopts a policy of ensuring that as far as possible, it maintains excess cash and cash equivalents in short-term 
deposits at interest rates with maturities not exceeding 90 days. 
 
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments at the reporting date was: 
 

  2016  2015  

  $‘000  $’000  

Fixed rate instruments    

Financial assets   10,568  10,466  

Financial liabilities   (7,176) -  

  3,392  10,466  

Variable rate instruments    

Financial assets   80,853  73,305  

Financial liabilities   (182,172) (349,121) 

 
  

(101,319) (275,816) 

 
Refer to Note 19 for further information regarding interest bearing loans and borrowings.  
 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit 
or (loss) by the amounts shown below. This analysis does not reflect any change in profit or (loss) in relation to the 
variable Term loan B, as even if the reasonably possible increase in interest rates occurs the interest rate floor on the 
Term loan B will not be exceeded. This analysis assumes that all other variables, including foreign exchange rates, 
remain constant. 
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 
Profit or (loss) Equity 

 100bp increase 100bp decrease 100bp increase 100bp decrease 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

30 June 2016     

Variable rate instruments 809  (809) -  -  

 809  (809) -  -  

30 June 2015     

Variable rate instruments 733  (733) -  -  

 733  (733) -  -  

 
The carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximately reflect their fair values. 
 
Capital management 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a suitable capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
whilst sustaining future development of the business. Capital consists of share capital plus retained loss. The Board 
monitors both retained earnings/(loss) in addition to the Group’s underlying earnings. Underlying earnings adjust 
retained earnings/(loss) for acquisition related costs and material non-cash, non-recurring adjustments such as asset 
impairment.  
 
The Group’s Term Loan B facility formerly had a total asset secured debt covenant (‘asset debt covenant’) of 2:1, which 
was formally measured every six months. Under the new agreement this has been replaced with a minimum monthly 
cash requirement of AU$35,000,000 among other requirements. At 30 June 2016 the Group is in compliance with all 
requirements. A breach of the covenant would result in the Term Loan B facility becoming immediately payable. 
 

The Group does not purchase its own shares, except where purchased under an employee share. The Group’s Term 
Loan B facility includes some restrictions on capital management that are standard for the Term Loan B market.  
 
There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 
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30. SUBSIDIARIES 

 Name of entity 
Country of  
incorporation 

Ownership 2016 (%) Ownership 2015 (%) 

Parent entity    
Atlas Iron Limited (i) Australia   

Subsidiaries    

Atlas Operations Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

St George Magnetite Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Mt Gould Minerals Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Weld Range Iron Ore Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Tiziflower Investments Inc (ii) Panama 100 100 

Jakkitower Enterprises SA (ii) Panama 100 100 

Warwick Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Aurox Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Ferro Metals Australia Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Giralia Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Tallering Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Carlinga Mining Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Wheelbarrow Prospecting Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

FerrAus Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Australian Manganese Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

FerrAus Manganese Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

South East Pilbara Assets Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Minera Atacamena Limitada Chile 100 100 

Atlas Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100 100 

Atlas America Finance Inc United States of America 100 100 

Atlas Iron Employee Share Trust Australia 100 100 

 
(i) Atlas Iron Limited is the ultimate parent entity within the consolidated Group. 
(ii) These companies are members of the Atlas tax consolidated Group. 

 
Interests in unconsolidated structured entities 
The Group has no interests in unconsolidated structured entities. 
 
  



 

 

 

 

Atlas Iron Limited and its Controlled Entities - Annual Report 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

ATLAS IRON LIMITED 2016 ANNUAL REPORT 69 

31. PARENT COMPANY 

As at and throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2016, the Parent entity of the Group was Atlas Iron Limited.  
 
(a) Financial position of parent company at year end 

 
 

2016  2015  

 $’000  $’000  

Total current assets  223,839  133,772  

Total non-current assets  666,776  1,135,210  

TOTAL ASSETS  890,615  1,268,982  

Total current liabilities  344,479  616,406  

Total non-current liabilities  276,470  431,916  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  620,949  1,048,322  

NET ASSETS  269,666  220,660  

TOTAL EQUITY OF THE PARENT ENTITY COMPRISING OF:    

Issued capital  2,197,388  1,991,630  

Reserves  43,395  30,557  

Accumulated loss  (1,971,117) (1,801,527) 

TOTAL EQUITY  269,666  220,660  

RESULTS OF PARENT ENTITY  

Loss for the year  (169,590) (1,377,003) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (39) 329  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (169,629) (1,376,674) 

 
(b) Guarantees entered into by the Parent 

Atlas Iron Limited has not entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its 100% owned subsidiaries. 
The Parent has a guarantee in respect of a lease agreement as disclosed in Note 23(d). 
 
(c) Contingent liabilities of the Parent 

The Parent does not have any contingent liabilities. 

 
(d) Commitments of the Parent 

The commitments of the Parent are the commitments of the Group, see Note 23. 
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The Directors of Atlas Iron Limited declare that: 
 

(1) (a) In the Directors opinion, the consolidated financial statements and notes that are contained in pages 27 
to 69 and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the remuneration report in the Directors’ Report 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 
(b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they 

become due and payable; and 
(c) The Directors have been given the declarations required by s295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from 

the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 
(2) The Directors draw attention to Note 1(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a 

statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
Dated this 30th day of August 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Daniel Harris 
CEO and Managing Director 
Perth, Western Australia 
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